

Documento de Trabajo Serie Unión Europea y Relaciones Internacionales Número 104 / 2020

Reframing the Response to Climate Refugees

Alexander Grey Crutchfield



Documento de Trabajo Serie Unión Europea y Relaciones Internacionales Número 104 / 2020

Reframing the Response to Climate Refugees

Alexander Grey Crutchfield



El Real Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos de la Universidad CEU San Pablo, Centro Europeo de Excelencia Jean Monnet, es un centro de investigación especializado en la integración europea y otros aspectos de las relaciones internacionales.

Los Documentos de Trabajo dan a conocer los proyectos de investigación originales realizados por los investigadores asociados del Instituto Universitario en los ámbitos histórico-cultural, jurídico-político y socioeconómico de la Unión Europea.

Las opiniones y juicios de los autores no son necesariamente compartidos por el Real Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos.

Los documentos de trabajo están también disponibles en: www.idee.ceu.es

Serie *Unión Europea y Relaciones Internacionales* de Documentos de Trabajo del Real Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos

Reframing the Response to Climate Refugees

Cualquier forma de reproducción, distribución, comunicación pública o transformación de esta obra solo puede ser realizada con la autorización de sus titulares, salvo excepción prevista por la ley. Diríjase a CEDRO (Centro Español de Derechos Reprográficos, www.cedro.org) si necesita escanear algún fragmento de esta obra.

© 2020, por Alexander Grey Crutchfield

© 2020, por Fundación Universitaria San Pablo CEU

CEU *Ediciones* Julián Romea 18, 28003 Madrid Teléfono: 91 514 05 73, fax: 91 514 04 30 Correo electrónico: ceuediciones@ceu.es www.ceuediciones.es

Real Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos Avda. del Valle 21, 28003 Madrid www.idee.ceu.es

ISBN: 978-84-18463-07-5 Depósito legal: M-30302-2020

Maquetación: Gráficas Vergara, S. A.

Índice

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	4
INTRODUCTION	5
CHAPTER 1: THE ADEQUACY OF EXISTING LEGAL AND POLICY FRAMEWORKS	7
1. Who Is and Who Isn't a Climate Refugee?	7
2. Climate Change Refugees in Context Today	9
3. 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees Analysis	10
4. Broader Definitions in Regional Conventions	12
5. The OAU Convention	12
6. The Cartagena Declaration	14
7. The Bangkok Principles of 1966	15
8. The European Union Conceptualization of Climate Refugees	16
9. Analysis of the Conceptualization of Climate Refugees by the United Nations	18
10. The UN Global Compact on Refugees	19
CHAPTER 2: ADVOCATED SOLUTIONS	22
1. Advocated Solutions by the EU	22
2. National Responses	23
3. EU Member States with Express Provisions for Environmental Displacement	24
4. Advocated Solutions by the UN	25
CHAPTER 3: THE CASE FOR THE CLIMATE REFUGEE CRISIS AS A HUMAN RIGHTS ISSUE	30
1. Amending the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees?	30
2. The Shortcomings of the Global Compact on Refugees and the Protection Agenda	30
3. Expanding the Lens Under a Human Rights Framework	31
4. Navigating EU's Human Rights Policy for the Advancement of Climate Refugees	33
CONCLUSIONS	35
BIBLIOGRAPHY	37

List of Abbreviations

The Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees,

Geneva Convention of 28 July 1951

COP Conference of Parties

CJEU Court Justice of the European Union EP - European Parliament

EU European Union

GCR Global Compact on Refugees

ICJ International Court of Justice

OAU Organisation of African Unity

QD Qualitative Directive (of the European Union)

SIDS Small Island Developing States

TFEU Treaty of the Functioning of the European Union

TFD Task Force on Displacement

UN United Nations

UNDESA United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs

UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

UNEP United Nations Environment Program

UNHCR The United Nations High Commissioner for

Refugees, the UN Refugee Agency

UNSD United Nations Statistics Division

Introduction

People across the planet are on the move due to environmental disruption and degradation, causing them to abandon their countries of origin and find their future in new locations. To move away from natural disasters or long-term dangerous environmental phenomena such as drought or famine is a rational response to human survival. These people are referred to as 'environmental refugees' or 'climate refugees' in the international discourse. However, it is essential to state that 'environmental refugees' do not exist in legal terms despite the empirical evidence that people are migrating due to climate change. It is not defined as a category nor covered by the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees. Nevertheless, climate change will likely increase the number of people seeking to escape environmental pressures. As such, it is of great importance and urgency to address the gap of international protection for this class of migrants.

The objective of this research study is to examine the dilemma of forced migration due to climate change, given the hostile political climate towards migrants in general throughout the international community. Naturally, it is virtually impossible to come up with a definitive solution. However, I strive to maintain a focus on steps in the short-term that could lead in a positive direction for long-term answers. For clarity, this research study uses "protection" to refer to any type of positive or constructive action, legally based or not, assumed by state actors or non-state actors on behalf of climate refugees or people at risk of being displaced to strive to achieve full respect for their individual rights of personhood. Chapter one will analyze the state of environmental refugees in the current international refugee legal framework and political context. It will highlight the significance of the erosion of international protections for climate refugees and describe their current options as of today. Chapter two will delve into the humanitarian side of the dilemma, and the advocated solutions. It will address what governmental and non-governmental agents are doing and the challenges they face. Lastly, chapter three will discuss the arguments made for reframing the discourse of environmental refugees as a human rights issue. The point of this exercise is to determine what can be achieved for environmental refugees based on the current conditions given the lack of international protection, and ultimately can environmental migration be reframed as a human rights issue? For the sake of depth, the scope of this study will focus primarily on the actions of the United Nations and the European Union as they are two of the most powerful multinational organizations that have a direct influence on the way climate refugees are recognized and protected. In addition, I chose to focus on the EU out of all regions throughout the world because I contend that it is uniquely positioned to be a leader in undertaking the climate refugee crisis given its progressive stance and leadership on confronting climate change.

Hypothesis

The hypothesis I have reached is that is unlikely that environmental refugees can be added as a new protected category of refugees given the reticence of state actors to accrue more liability and overwhelm their respective immigration systems, but it is possible to achieve greater protection in the medium to long term by reframing the discourse as a broader human rights issue, based on existing internationally recognized policies.

¹ This definition is in my own words and interpretation, however, it takes inspiration from the Nansen Initiative.

The Method of Study

Primary Resources

In order to evaluate the legal policies and regional frameworks, it was essential to consult those official international documents themselves. These included the 1951 Refugee Convention, the Bangkok Principles of 1966, the OAU Convention, the Cartagena Declaration, and the EU Qualification Directive. The Nansen Initiative and other UN-based documents were also consulted directly from their respective sources. Additionally, for the purposes of understanding the Teitiota case, it was necessary to consult the official court documents found in the United States Law Library of Congress and its subsequent ruling from the UN Human Rights Committee. Additionally, I had the privilege to have a brief correspondence about the migration-climate change nexus with the Migration, Environment, and Climate Change division of the International Organization of Migration.

Secondary Resources

A large array of books and academic articles were used to gain historical context and to track the evolution of the discourse surrounding climate refugees. Leading academics and experts in international refugee law such as McAdam, Kälin, Aleinikoff, and Williams were of particular significance to aid in the analysis of legal interpretation and documents in how they could or could not be applied to climate refugees. Given that this subject is an ever-evolving issue, few journalistic articles were consulted from reputable periodicals such as *Reuters, Scientific American*, and *The Diplomat* to investigate how the media portrays the current situation for climate refugees in context today. These media outlets reflected the most up-to-date sources of information as of 2020.

Chapter 1: The Adequacy of Existing Legal and Policy Frameworks

1. Who Is and Who Isn't a Climate Refugee?

There has been a noticeable uptick in reports in the media about climate change migrants (or environmental refugees, climate refugees, climate change-induced displacements, etc.) due to the increase in crises that have compounded over the years. For this reason, the term 'climate refugees' has entered the popular discourse. Although there are political debates about the terminology, and there are valid reasons for the advantages on both sides, I will continue to refer to them as climate refugees for pragmatism. It provides a straightforward, easily comprehensible, and translatable label to a complicated phenomenon: the displacement of individuals or groups of people fleeing a slow- onset change in their environment or a sudden disaster, which are directly triggered, partly caused or at least exacerbated by climate change. I have adopted this posture from leading academics, organizations, and position papers submitted by the European Free Alliance (The Greens')² in the European Parliament (EP) and briefings of the EP, but this is in no way a political stance or endorsement.

In any case, there is no international consensus on whether climate change migrants should be classified as a distinct category. Betts suggests a new catch-all term to curtail the legal drama of refugee status: 'survival migrants'. Those who are compelled to move out of their native country because of "an existential threat to which they have no access to a domestic remedy". Survival migrants' encapsulates economic and climate change migrants. McAdam stresses that it is arbitrary to discriminate between those who are moving due to economic reasons as a consequence of climate change and those who are physically displaced by climate change when it comes to protection purposes. Others question the idea of an environmental migrant in the first place on the grounds of a poor definition and being legally meaningless such as McGregor, 1993 and Kibreab, 1994. The United Nations University's Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS) defines a "forced environmental migrant" as "a person who "has" to leave his/her place of normal residence because of an environmental stressor ... in contrast to an environmentally motivated migrant who is a person who "may" decide to move because of an environmental stressor".

The United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) published a report in 1985 that popularized the term 'environmental refugees' in the global discourse. The UNEP researcher, Essam El-Hinnawi, defined environmental refugees generally as "people who have been forced to leave their traditional habitat, temporarily or permanently, because of a marked environmental disruption (natural and/or triggered by people) that jeopardized their existence and/or seriously affected the quality of their life". By 1995, the trend of defining climate change refugees in broad strokes continued with Myers and Kent claiming that "environmental refugees" are people "who can no longer gain a secure livelihood in their traditional homelands because of

² See: FLAUTRE, Hélène, LAMBERT, Jean, KELLER, Ska and LOCHBIHLER, Barbara, 2013, *CLIMATE CHANGE, REFUGEES AND MIGRATION* [online]. May 2013. [Accessed 5 January 2020]. Available from: http://rosamartinez.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Greens-EFA-Position-Paper-Climate-Change-Refugees-and-Mi gration.pdf

BETTS, Alexander, 2010, Survival Migration: A New Protection Framework. *Global Governance: A Review of Multilateralism and International Organizations*. 2010. Vol. 16, no. 3p. 361–382. DOI 10.1163/19426720-01603006.

⁴ Ibid, 365

⁵ MCADAM, Jane, 2011, Swimming against the Tide: Why a Climate Change Displacement Treaty is Not the Answer. *International Journal of Refugee Law.* October 2011. Vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 2-27. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/eeq045.23 IJRL 2, 4.

⁶ See KIBREAB, Gaim (1994). "Migration, environment and refugeehood". In: ZABA, B. and CLARKE. J. (eds.) Environment and Population Change, Liège, Belgium: International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, Derouaux Ordina Editions, 115-29. and MCGREGOR, JoAnn (1993). "Refugees and the environment". In BLACK, R. and ROBINSON, V. (eds.) Geography and Refugees: Patterns and Processes of Change London: Belhaven, 157-70.

⁷ RENAUD, FABRICE et al. 2007. Control, Adapt or Flee. How to Face Environmental Migration? Bonn: UNUEHS, [Accessed 8 January 2020]. Available from: http://www.ehs.unu.edu/file/get/3973

⁸ HINNAWI, Essam E., 1985, Environmental refugees. Nairobi: United Nations environment programme.

environmental factors of unusual scope, notably drought, desertification, deforestation, soil erosion, water shortages, and climate change, also natural disasters such as cyclones, storm surges, and floods". Yet, with this definition in mind, the total number of environmentalrefugees would have skyrocketed to around 25 million people (circa 1996), which is numerically well above the amount of "political" refugees that are already of concern to the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the UN Refugee Agency (UNHCR). 10

Despite the increased recognition of climate refugees in scholarly research over the years, the lack of reliable data has further hindered finding a consensus. Acquiring datasets will raise a problem for the future advancement of finding an appropriate definition for the group and assessing the level of protection needed and available for climate refugees.¹¹ The United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA) plus their Statistical Division (UNSD) compiles information on all types of international migration from national governments and reports from multiple UN agencies in an effort to obtain said data.¹² Nevertheless, there are various challenges with this type of data acquisition, particularly with regard to the use of distinct standards of measurement and definitions between different states and agencies, on which the UNSD is reliant.¹³ When there is a dearth of reliable data that can determine the severity of the problem, it becomes more difficult to pinpoint the group in question with precision and to be fully conscious of the problems that the group faces.¹⁴

Given the dispute on climate change refugees constituting what it means to be a refugee, many multinational bodies such as the United Nations or the European Union choose to use terms such as "displaced persons" or "migrants". The UNHCR specifically defines migrants as people who "choose to move not because of a direct threat of persecution or death, but mainly to improve their lives by finding work, or in some cases for education, family reunion, or other reasons". In effect, however, this would mean that the movement of environmental refugees, if conceptualized as "migrants", is principally voluntary. Of course, this posture is highly contestable. Bierman and Boas argue that any definition of what a climate change refugee must address "(a) the cause of migration, namely the type of environmental harm or climate-change impact that would create this category of climate refugees; and (b) the type of migration, namely whether it is voluntarily or "forced", temporary or permanent, and transnational or internal; and, related to this, (c) the appropriate terminology, that is, whether the term "refugee" is justified in the first place". This wide range of interpretations and prioritizations of disparate factors illustrates some of the major challenges with the characterization and framing of the concept of environmental refugees.

The greatest roadblock to developing a system to respond to climate refugees and climate change-related mobility in general lies in the nuances of migration in the first place. People migrate for a variety of reasons. The delineation between 'voluntary' and 'forced' is fairly clear in international law. However, it is never so simple in reality when it comes to a potential refugee's motivation to move. Climate change has been considered to be a "force multiplier" that can "intensify the effects of disasters". ¹⁶ Yet, there has never been sufficient evidence to prove that a specific storm or climatic event was only due to climate change itself. Mayer asserts, "there were hurricanes, desertification and sinking islands before climate change, and greenhouse gas emissions do not bear the responsibility for all of these phenomena happening today.'¹⁷

⁹ MYERS, Norman and KENT, Jennifer, 1995, *Environmental exodus: an emergent crisis in the global arena*. Washington, DC : Climate Institute, 18-19.

¹⁰ MYERS, Norman and KENT, Jennifer, 1995.

¹¹ MCLEMAN, Robert, 2012, Developments in modelling of climate change-related migration. *Climatic Change*. November 2012. Vol. 117, no. 3, pp. 599-611. DOI 10.1007/s10584-012-0578-2.

¹² Ibid.

¹³ Ibid; UNSD.

¹⁴ Ibid, 606.

¹⁵ UNHCR 2016. "Refugee' or 'migrant' – Which is right?". Accessed [2 February 2020].

¹⁶ FERRIS, Elizabeth, 2017, Governance and climate change-induced mobility. *Climate Change, Migration and Human Rights*. December 2017. pp. 10-27. DOI 10.4324/9781315622217-2.

¹⁷ MAYER, Benoît, 2014, Climate Migration Governance. *Handbook of Climate Change Adaptation*. 2014. pp. 1-14. DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-40455-9 112-1.

Furthermore, the debate intensifies when one tries to pinpoint climate change as the particular cause for any situation because it is impossible to ignore the social, economic, political, demographic, and other factors that come into play. While it is widely accepted that there is a difference between 'migration' and 'displacement', the distinction is often blurred.

2. Climate Change Refugees in Context Today

Africa, Asia, Latin America, and the small island Pacific states have the most considerable share of at-risk populations of becoming climate refugees. Currently, fourteen African countries are experiencing water scarcity or drought, affecting millions of Africans. This number may increase to 25 countries by 2030. ¹⁸ The desertification of the Sahel is a particular cause for concern.

Additionally, the continent is also very vulnerable to sea-level rise in key river deltas like in Nigeria and Egypt.¹⁹ Asia is also vulnerable due to its highly-populated, low-lying coastal areas that are habitually susceptible to typhoons and tropical cyclones. From 39 million to an extreme potential of 812 million South Asians will become at risk of water stress if a global temperature increase by two to three degrees occurs. Climate refugees from Bangladesh alone could outnumber all climate refugees worldwide today.²⁰ India is already feeling that impact today. Nearly 1.5 million people are classified as internally displaced every year, many of whom are fleeing natural disasters in rural areas to densely populated urban cities.²¹ In Latin America, millions of Mexicans and Guatemalans are experiencing worsening droughts.²² Conversely, thousands of Uruguayans and Venezuelans live in regions where the risk of flooding is high, which could devastate the latter country which already has profound political issues. Additionally, melting ice sheets has accelerated in the South American Andes producing flooding in parts of Peru and water scarcity during the dry season that could affect all regions that rely on the water flow from Cordillera Blanca. It is projected that this could affect up to 50 million people in 2050 because it will stifle major cities such as La Paz, Lima, and Quito.²³

In October 2009, former Maldivian President Nasheed attracted international attention when he held an underwater cabinet meeting in which he and his cabinet signed a global call to action to cut carbon emissions.²⁴ The Maldives had also pledged to become carbon neutral by this year, in an attempt to inspire other nations to do the same. It has made a valiant effort, but it appears that it still may not be enough to save the islands from its eventual submersion underwater. The citizenry of the Maldives will be faced with the stark choice of fleeing their native lands altogether or crowd into the remaining islands until they too are eventually inundated.

Other nations that do not have the clout of the Maldives and are perhaps more under threat by sea-level rise are the small island nations, Kiribati and Tuvalu. Their elevation is so low that it is less than two meters above sea level. In addition, these countries contribute less than one percent of the global greenhouse gas emissions. Their exposure to climate extremes and natural disasters, small physical size and capacity to adapt make them particularly vulnerable to climate change despite the fact that they contribute so little to it.

ANYADIKE, Obi, 2019, Drought in Africa leaves 45 million in need across 14 countries. *The New Humanitarian* [online]. 10 June 2019. [Accessed 8 January 2020]. Available from: https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/analysis/2019/06/10/drought-africa-2019-45-million-in-need

¹⁹ Ibid.

²⁰ ELLINGHAM, Vanessa, 2014, Climate refugees, the hot potato of immigration policy: FairPlanet. Fair Planet [online]. 10 November 2014. [Accessed 8 January 2020]. Available from: https://www.fairplanet.org/story/why-climate-refugees-are-the-hot-potato-of-immigration-policy/

²¹ SHARALAYA, Nandan, 2018, Taking India's Climate Migrants Seriously. *The Diplomat* [online]. 10 August 2018. [Accessed 1 February 2020]. Available from: https://thediplomat.com/2018/08/taking-indias-climate-migrants-seriously/

²² MASTERS, Jeff, 2019, Fifth Straight Year of Central American Drought Helping Drive Migration. *Scientific American Blog Network* [online]. 23 December 2019. [Accessed 1 February 2020]. Available from: https://blogs.scientificamerican.com/eye-of-the-storm/fifth-straight-year-of-central-american-drought-helping-drive-migration/

²³ Ibid.

²⁴ OMIDI, Maryam, 2009, Maldives sends climate SOS with undersea cabinet. Reuters [online]. 17 October 2009. [Accessed 8 January 2020]. Available from: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-maldives-environment/maldives-sends-climate-sos-with-undersea-cabinet-idUST RE59G0P120091017

Kiribati, for example, is less resilient to climate change because it has one of the highest poverty rates in the Pacific, with a population of over 100,000 on one island that has a landmass of about 811 square kilometers. It does not possess a higher ground for long-term internal resettlement.

The disappearance of sinking states is a scenario that is unprecedented for the international community. It raises multiple new challenges in international law and questions the idea of what national sovereignty means for a disappearing state. More importantly, it begs the question of how the people of those islands will be protected during their journey and once they arrive at their ultimate destination. Would they be effectively stateless? The majority of climate change refugees are displaced internally within their own borders. However, citizens that are displaced by sinking states are unique within the context of international law because they present a very specific set of attributes that differentiate them from the rest of climate change refugees. For example, they fulfill the provision in the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees that they must cross an international border to flee their disappearing homes.

Moreover, citizens that lose their homes in sinking states will probably lose them forever to the ocean and will never be able to return to their countries of origin. Effectively, this would mean displacing entire nations which has never been done before. The potential of mass migration by citizens of sinking states is frightening for the international community, but it must be confronted. It will result in countless humanitarian, legal, ethical, and practical challenges that now verge on the inevitable.

3. 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees Analysis

According to the UN Treaty in conjunction with the 1967 Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees, the definition of a refugee is established through the lens of persecution. This made sense given the post-World War II context in which the Convention was held. One can reasonably infer that the idea of a refugee was conceptualized in the minds of the *travaux préparatoires* or drafters as an Eastern European escaping the burgeoning communist regimes of the time, or Jews who had survived the holocaust. An important stipulation to note in the definition is that the refugee must cross an international border to escape said persecution.

A refugee is one who owing to well-founded fear of persecution for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership in a particular social group or political opinion is outside the country of his own nationality and is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to avail himself of the protection of that country; or who, not having a nationality and being outside the country of his former habitual residence as a result of such events, is unable to or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to return to it.²⁵

Although international law defines a refugee in this way, it cannot be assumed that people outside this definition are not eligible or unworthy of protection, or even denied it.²⁶ Legal definitions are instituted to create bureaucratic limits to where our rights and state obligations end. But these definitions are meant to be tested to keep the ongoing cycle of establishing and re-establishing parameters.

Applications for refugee status have been repeatedly denied by people who have tried to move preemptively to avoid damaging effects of climate change. For example, Philip recounts "numerous unsuccessful refugee applications in Australia and New Zealand" from Small Island Developing States (SIDS) in the Pacific including Kiribati, Tuvalu and Tonga despite demonstrable need of rescue.²⁷ In the past, New Zealand's decision-making bodies sustained that people displaced due to climate change are not "differentially at risk of harm amounting to persecution due to any one of [the] 5 grounds and that "all... citizens [of the threatened states] face the same environmental and economic difficulties" as the applicants in question, thereby disqualifying them.²⁸

²⁵ UN General Assembly, *Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees*, 28 July 1951, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 189, p. 137, available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/3be01b964.html [accessed 6 March 2020].

²⁶ MCADAM, Jane, 2013, Climate change, forced migration, and international law. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

²⁷ PHILIP, T., 2018. Climate change displacement and migration: An analysis of the current international legal regime's deficiency, proposed solutions and a way forward for Australia. *Melb. J. Int'l L.*, 19, p. 639.

²⁸ Ibid

The concept that climate change refugees are being persecuted is hotly contested. The word 'persecution' is not defined but it is generally accepted that it is an individual type of threat. It is based on the grounds of a threat to one's identity (via one's basic security and life) or one's inclusion in a specific group. Thus, it begs the question if climate change refugees are a group that can be defined. Obviously, they are people who are living in the range of environments that are facing some type of decline. These could be from coastal, urban or rural communities. Moreover, this group would cover a large array of cultures, languages and societies with varying degrees of economic standing. Since climate change is a global phenomenon, everyone will be affected in one way or another. Only the need to flee based on the severity of the environmental deterioration binds "pockets of displaces" throughout the world.

For this reason, Simonelli argues, "persecution could only be considered impersonal, as human environments are indiscriminately threatened in different ways". 29 The following line of logic gets weaker if we consider an Act of God like famine or drought as acts of persecution because nature cannot persecute. There is a stronger case to be made of impersonal persecution by the Global North through negligence. Once the developed world realized the damage it was causing to climate change refugees and continued to contribute to climate change, they could be considered complicit. However, virtually all countries are directly contributing to climate change as they develop their infrastructure or purchase products that harm the environment. Furthermore, carbon emissions come from a multitude of places across the planet, so it is doubtful that a climate change refugee could confidently pinpoint which state actor's carbon emission caused their dilemma.³⁰

Therefore, the persecution in question would once again be considered impersonal since it is impossible to identify who or what directly caused it.

Some have tried to argue that that government-induced degradation is a form of persecution and that it is happening because of the concerned groups' "membership of a certain social group" that falls under the criteria of the 1951 Refugee Convention.³¹ For example, the Chernobyl disaster in which it is arguable that the delayed response by the Soviet Union exacerbated the harmful effects displayed a clear indifference for safety and environmental concerns in the country's pursuit of nuclear power.³² While this case was not induced by climate change, it could set a precedent for future legal battles. Another example suggested is the desertification of the African Sahel region, where it could be argued that Sahelian governments "could have enacted policies and programs to cut population growth, to improve agricultural techniques, or to heighten food production".33

Negligence by governments when they fail to address or manage vulnerable populations exposed to the harmful effects of climate change could reach the burden of proof to be considered 'persecution'. Indeed, certain marginalized groups in society, such as ethnic minorities, are often more unprotected and exposed to disasters. Hence, they would because of their identity receive less protection and assistance during and following a disaster.34 While these situations hold weight as an academic argument, it is highly improbable that they would stand in a legal context. When governments force people to relocate for development projects, or there are mass groups of people displaced by natural calamities or accidents, they may create or aggravate a refugee crisis. This can inspire justifiable claims of government responsibility or liability on the grounds of negligence that necessitate remedial action, but still does not fall within the scope of the Refugee Convention as it is currently interpreted.³⁵ Of course, it also bears mentioning that a large proportion of climate refugees

²⁹ SIMONELLI, Andrea C., 2016, Institutional Expansion. Governing Climate Induced Migration and Displacement. 2016. P. 55–72. DOI 10.1057/9781137538666 5.

³⁰ Ibid.

WILLIAMS, Angela, 2008, Turning the Tide: Recognizing Climate Change Refugees in International Law. Law & Policy. 2008. Vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 502-529. DOI 10.1111/j.1467-9930.2008.00290.x.

³² Ibid.

³³ Ibid.

KOLMANNSKOG, Vikram, 2012, Climate Change, Environmental Displacement And International Law. Journal of International Development. 2012. Vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 1071-1081. DOI 10.1002/jid.2888.

WILLIAMS, Angela, 2008. supra note 31.

are internally displaced, meaning that they do not physically cross a border, so they would not fall under the definition either.

For now, climate change refugees may receive protection only because they are fleeing persecution and/ or conflict and not due to the environmental impacts that force them to cross international borders. Given the political atmosphere, states may prefer to maintain this dichotomy because they are not held liable for assuming newfound responsibilities and taking on high costs for a new wave of refugees.

4. Broader Definitions in Regional Conventions

4.1. Background Information

The 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and the 1967 Protocol served as a building block for regional conventions including the Organization of African Unity Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugees Problems in Africa (the OAU Convention), and the Cartagena Declaration on Refugees (the Cartagena Declaration), which is applicable in Latin America, and the Bangkok Principles on the Status and Treatment of Refugees (Bangkok Principles). Furthermore, these stated conventions are necessary to include because there is a distinguishing factor between these regional instruments and the 1951 Refugee Convention. In short, the regional conventions define or at least offer the possible interpretation to define "refugee" in a wider scope. Plus, some may provide additional or complementary protection for nonconvention applicable refugees. As a result, the regional agreements are some of the most important legal frameworks that climate refugees and other environmentally displaced people could depend upon.

5. The OAU Convention

The 1969 Convention Governing Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa of the Organization of African Unity (OAU) and the Cartagena Declaration of 1984 are both significant regional agreements that have worked to broaden the accepted definition of "refugee". Notably, both conventions provide enough space to provide protections for people displaced by climate change despite that not being their original intentions.³⁶ In the African Convention, which did not come into effect until 1974, states:

"The term 'refugee' shall also apply to every person who, owing to external aggression, occupation, foreign domination or events seriously disturbing public order in either part or the whole of his country of origin or nationality, is compelled to leave his place of habitual residence in order to seek refuge in another place outside his country of origin or nationality".³⁷

The OAU is made up of 53 Member States, of which 50 of them have ratified or signed the Convention since it entered into force.³⁸ Moreover, this definition has been incorporated into domestic law in at least Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Tanzania, and South Africa.³⁹ This means that that Convention regulates well over 6 million refugees.⁴⁰

The key phrase "events seriously disturbing public order" was originally intended to expand protections for natural events such as famine, natural disasters, or disease epidemics.⁴¹ However, some interpret the humanitarian context of the treaty as making it reasonable to argue that the open-ended language effectively

³⁶ FORNALÉ, Elisa and DOEBBLER, Curtis F J, 2016, UNHCR and protection and assistance for the victims of climate change. *The Geographical Journal*. September 2016. Vol. 183, no. 4 p. 329–335. DOI 10.1111/geoj.12193.

³⁷ OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa, 1969, 2018. *International Human Rights Law Documents*, pp. 599-605. DOI 10.1017/9781316677117.071.

³⁸ African Union list of countries which have signed, ratified/acceded to the OAU Convention, available at: http://www.africa-union.org/root/au/documents/treaties/text/refugee%20Problems%20in%20Africa.doc

³⁹ MCADAM, Jane supra note 26, at p. 48.

⁴⁰ UNHCR, 2009, OAU Convention Remains a Key Plank of Refugee Protection in Africa after 40 years available at: https://www.unhcr.org/4aa7b80c6.html

⁴¹ FORNALÉ, Elisa and DOEBBLER, Curtis F J, 2016.

broadens the scope of the definition of who is and is not a refugee. Why? Fornalé and Dobbler contend that "such an interpretation of the terms of this legally binding treaty is not only consistent with its object and purpose, which is to protect Africans forced to migrate due to particularly aggressive harm, but it is also consistent with an understanding of the terms of the 1974 Convention in the light of developments among the African Member States that have recognized climate change is one of the most significant causes of forced migration". This highlights a key distinction with regards to the 1951 convention, which was based on the European experience of people displaced by war and human threats of persecution, not environmental factors.

Other influential authors have debated whether the OAU Convention could be applicable to cases of Africans fleeing environmental disasters, and there are both expansive and restrictive interpretations on the topic as well. For example, international human rights lawyer, activist and the current UN representative of the United Nations Secretary-General on the Human Rights of Internally Displaced Persons, Walter Kälin, has advocated that he believes in the potential for sudden-onset disasters to be interpreted in that manner. Although he affirmed the theoretical possibility, Kälin also sustains that it is "rather unlikely that the States concerned would readily accept such an expansion of the concept beyond its conventional meaning of public disturbances resulting in violence". In other words, a refugee could be successful in receiving protection if he or she were fleeing a public riot or some other type of persecution after an environmental disaster and his or her government failed to provide adequate assistance, in Kälin's perspective.⁴³

Another prominent author in human rights and international refugee law, professor James C. Hathaway contended that the definition "does not […] suggest that victims of natural disasters or economic misfortune should become the responsibility of the international community". His posture was strict, but it should be noted that this was argued in 1991.⁴⁴ Additionally, the UNHCR Executive Committee Working Group on Solutions and Protection published a document in their 19th meeting in 1992, which covered the interpretation of peoples covered by the OAU Convention definition explicitly. It was to be made clear that only refugees fleeing man-made disasters were covered.⁴⁵

Conversely, George Okoth-Obbo, the former UNHCR Director of the Regional Bureau for Africa and current Assistant High Commissioner for Operations, has argued for a more expansive posture in his legal review of the OAU Convention and its 30 years in practice. Okoth-Obbo asserts that the public order as stated in the definition could potentially be disturbed by "accidental situations not necessarily based on deliberate state action", which in turn gives leeway for a broader interpretation that could include natural disasters as a result of climate change.⁴⁶

In any case, the OAU Convention has been cited for its robust potential to be utilized as a casemaker based on customary international law.⁴⁷ "To establish a customary international law rule, there needs to be evidence of widespread and uniform state practice on the subject, as well as a sense of a legal obligation to the practice, the so-called *opinio juris* element".⁴⁸ Accordingly, with the first element of state practice, there is not a required number of states that must participate in said practice before it becomes the law. It is generally accepted that there is not a threshold and it does not have to be all of the states, but presumably

⁴² KALIN, Walter, 'Conceptualising Climate-Induced Displacement' in JANE MCADAM (ED), CLIMATE CHANGE AND DISPLACEMENT: MULTIDISCIPLINARY PERSPECTIVES 2010. pp. 88-9.

⁴³ Ibid

⁴⁴ HATHAWAY, James C., 1991, The law of refugee status. Markham, Ont.: Lexis Nexis Butterworths. pp. 16-21.

⁴⁵ UNHCR, Persons covered by the OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa and by the Cartagena Declaration on Refugees (Submitted by the African Group and the Latin American Group), U.N. Doc. EC/1992/SCP/CRP.6 (Apr. 6. 1992).

⁴⁶ OKOTH-OBBO George, 2001. Thirty Years on: a Legal Review of the 1969 OAU Refugee Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa, 20 REF. SURVEY QUARTERLY, p.112.

⁴⁷ BARISIC, Angela and INCI, Dilan, 2013, [online]. 13 May 2013. [Accessed 5 April 2020]. Available from: http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:633332/ATTACHMENT01.pdf

⁴⁸ Ibid

many of them would engage. This was established by the International Court of Justice (ICJ) Fisheries Case.⁴⁹ However, it is important to note that in the North Sea Continental Shelf cases, the ICJ upheld that the practice of "specifically affected states" is the practice of greatest significance. Thus, it begs the question, which states are especially affected by refugee flows and account for their practice and *opinio juris*? The states that experience critical numbers of refugee inflows would be considered "specially affected" and therefore are more essential and representative in developing a general practice and *opinio juris* imperative.

In the graph above, provided by the UNHCR website for statistics (the 2018 Global Trends in Forced Displacement), we can see that Sub-Saharan Africa hosts more than 26 percent of the world's global refugee population. This means that the OAU Convention has been adopted by some of the largest host countries of refugees on the planet including: Sudan, Uganda, Ethiopia, Tanzania, Rwanda, Zambia, Kenya, Demorcratic Republic of the Congo, Chad, Cameroon, and Egypt. 12

To conclude, it is not far-fetched for the OAU Convention to encapsulate climate refugees, because there have already been examples of state practice of the African Union coming together to offer assistance to sudden onset environmental refugees. For example, the OAU offered protections for Haitian refugees after the 2010 earthquake.⁵² In addition, Rwanda opened their borders to Congolese refugees after the 2002 volcanic eruptions of Mount Nyiragongo.

6. The Cartagena Declaration

In the Latin American context, the Cartagena Declaration was drafted by the Colloquium on the International Protection of Refugees in Latin America and adopted in 1984. It continued with a similar standard as the OAU Convention and builds upon the 1951 Refugee Convention. It declares:

Hence the definition or concept of a refugee to be recommended for use in the region is one which, in addition to containing the elements of the 1951 Convention and the 1967 Protocol, includes among refugees persons who have fled their country because their lives, safety or freedom have been threatened by generalized violence, foreign aggression, internal conflicts, massive violation of human rights or other circumstances which have seriously disturbed public order.⁵³

The same logic applied to the African Convention would apply to the Cartagena Declaration for climate refugees to be covered. This is perhaps because the Cartagena Declaration was influenced by the provisions on the right of refugees agreed upon in the OAU Convention. Like the OAU Convention, the Cartagena Declaration has been adopted into domestic law in some of the Member States as well. These include Argentina, Bolivia, Colombia, El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua and Panama. However, it is important to acknowledge that this is merely a domestic instrument with no legally binding effect. Additionally, neither Brazil nor Ecuador attended the drafting conference nor signed the Cartagena Declaration, although the main principles of the agreement have been incorporated into municipal law in both countries. Moreover, the definition was endorsed by the Organization of American States in its 1985 General Assembly Session.

⁴⁹ Fisheries Case (U.K. v. Norw.), 1951 I.C.J. 138.

⁵⁰ UNCHR. 2018. "Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2018" p.14 [Accessed 02 April 2020] https://www.unhcr.org/5d08d7ee7.pdf

⁵¹ Ibid, 20.

⁵² MCADAM, Jane 2013. *supra* note 26, at 48, 107.

⁵³ Cartagena Declaration on Refugees (Nov. 22, 1984) in 'Annual Report of the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights' 1984–85 O.A.S. Doc. OEA/Ser.L/V/II.66/doc.10, rev.1 [hereinafter Cartagena Declaration].

OAU Convention, *supra* note 37, at Conclusions III(3) III(8).

⁵⁵ MCADAM, Jane, 2013. supra note 26.

⁵⁶ WORSTER, William Thomas, 2011, The Evolving Definition of the Refugee in Contemporary International Law. 113, 30. Berkley International Law. 2011. DOI 10.2139/ssrn.1736547.

⁵⁷ Cartagena Declaration, *supra* note 49, Article III(3).

In addition, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights has sustained that the definition as written should be considered as a "codification of a customary regional rule".58 If the Cartagena Declaration and the OAU Convention were to be consistently and practically applied, this still would not cover the majority of the international community. They are not universally applicable nor internationally accepted. Few state parties are "specially affected" by refugee inflows, especially in comparison to African states.⁵⁹ Therefore, using the Cartagena Declaration as an argument for customary international law may not be as strong. Nevertheless, the declaration has stood the test of time as a significant regional instrument given its legally obligatory nature that takes consideration of its adoptees' geographically diverse practice.

Professor Kälin postulates that his interpretation of the OAU Convention to be essentially equal in application to the Cartagena Declaration. That is to say, there is theoretical potential for the declaration to be used for protection for environmentally displaced people, however, most likely it would only work if said applicant did so immediately after a natural disaster and subsequent public disorder. 60 Also, legal scholars in their work as representatives of Latin American human rights institutions have already interpreted the definition in studies which were later used for background papers for the International Conference on Central American Refugees, held in Guatemala City in May 1989. It was stated explicitly that in their purview that the victims of natural disasters were not meant to be included in the definition.⁶¹

7. The Bangkok Principles of 1966

Another regional framework that helps to create the core global legal framework are the Bangkok Principles of 1966. It was adopted by the Asian-African Legal Consultative Organization, which is made up of 47 states, on June 24th, 2001. Like the Cartagena Declaration, the Bangkok Principles is a document considered to have a soft-law status. Article 1 (a) and (b) of the Bangkok Principles has also, similar to the OAU Convention and the Cartagena Declaration, the same definition of the term refugee as article 1a(2) of the 1951 Refugee Convention. Article 1(2) in the Bangkok Principles continues to widen the scope of the definition in similar fashion to the OAU Convention and the Cartagena Declaration. It states:

The term "refugee" shall also apply to every person, who, owing to external aggression, occupation, foreign domination or events seriously disturbing public order in either part or the whole of his country of origin or nationality, is compelled to leave his place of habitual residence in order to seek refuge in another place outside his country of origin or nationality.62

Despite the Bangkok Principles being non-binding, they could still serve a purpose, perhaps in conjunction with other regional instruments to be a foundation of *opino juris*. After all, "documents produced by states during for example conferences can be authoritative statements of state opinion". 63 Furthermore, a large number of "specially affected" states of refugee inflows and contributors to refugee outflows have authorized the Bangkok Principles. These member states include Syria, Saudi Arabia, Iran, Yemen, India, China, Kenya, Pakistan, Jordan, Nepal, Thailand, Cameroon, Tanzania, Egypt, Uganda. Many of these states have been some of the top receivers of refugees for years.⁶⁴

Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Annual Report 1981-82, OEA/Ser.L/V/II.57 doc. 6 rev.1 (1982) Chapter IV, ¶ 11(d). 58

⁵⁹ BARISIC, Angela and INCI, Dilan, supra note 47.

⁶⁰ KALIN, supra note 42.

ESPIELL, Hector Gros, PICADO, Sonia and LANZA, Leo Valladares, 1990, Principles And Criteria For The Protection Of And Assistance To Central American Refugees, Returnees And Displaced Persons In Latin America. International Journal of Refugee Law. 1990. Vol. 2, no. 1p. 83-117. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/2.1.83.

Asian-African Legal Consultative Organization. 1966. Bangkok Principles on the Status and Treatment of Refugees. Available at https:// www.refworld.org/pdfid/3de5f2d52.pdf

BARISIC, Angela and INCI, Dilan, supra note 47, and Fisheries Jurisdiction (U.K. v. Ice.), 1974 I.C.J. 23. 63

UNHCR, supra note 50.

8. The European Union Conceptualization of Climate Refugees

The last regional instrument that constructs the foundation of the global regional agreements is the EU Qualification Directive⁶⁵ and other relevant instruments of the EU *asylum acquis communautaire*. Protections for refugees in the EU is part of the Common European Asylum System, which is based on a total and all-inclusive application of the 1951 Refugee Convention. According to the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) case law and the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU) all legal and policy measures adopted by an EU legislator on asylum must be in accordance with the 1951 Refugee Convention. Elikewise, the Qualitative Directive intends to ensure that member states utilize a common criteria for recognizing applicants for asylum as refugees within the interpretation of Article 1 of the 1951 Refugee Convention stated above. Therefore, the definition of a refugee found in Article 2(d) of the Qualitative Directive could be considered the strictest because it is practically the same, except that it is referring to third-country nationals. Naturally, EU citizens are excluded from this Directive and it is evident that climate refugees do not fall within its scope of the definition of a refugee since it does not in the 1951 Refugee Convention.

However, there is hope for protection of climate refugees when one considers the subsidiary protection regime. What is subsidiary protection? This is the term used to denote the protection regime of the Qualitative Directive, for forced displacees who do not meet the requisite level of "persecution" or otherwise fall outside of the 1951 Refugee Convention standard of what it means to be a refugee. According to Articles 2 and 3 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR), subsidiary protection should be granted based on the right to life, the ban on torture, and on inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.

As a consequence, these articles have given rise to the principle of non-refoulement, which means that it is prohibited for countries to return asylum seekers to a country in which they would be in mortal danger or exposed to torture or inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment. It is found in Article 3 of the United Nations Convention against Torture (CAT), Article 6 and 7 International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and Article 3 of the ECHR.⁶⁹

Hence, to be eligible to receive subsidiary protection, the person must be facing "serious harm" as made clear in Article 15 of the Qualitative Directive. In said article, there is an open-ended but comprehensive list of what constitutes a serious harm. Accordingly, serious harm is explained as either 1) "death penalty or execution", or 2) "torture or inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment of an applicant in the country of origin" or (3) "serious and individual threat to a civilian's life or person by reason of indiscriminate violence in situations of international or internal armed conflict". Clearly, none of these factors at first glance apply to climate refugees. The first subsection obviously does not apply to any type of climate-induced displacement. The second subsection does not appear to be referring to environmental degradation. And the scope of the third subsection seems to be narrowed to wartime scenarios. However, it is important to note that some academics have attempted to argue that the second subsection gives enough room in its verbage for the potential to assist in times of extreme cases of natural disasters or environmental degradation (which theoretically would include climate refugees).⁷⁰

⁶⁵ Directive 2011/95/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 December 2011 on standards for the qualification of third-country nationals or stateless persons as beneficiaries of international protection, for a uniform status for refugees or for persons eligible for subsidiary protection, and for the content of the protection granted (recast), 20 December 2011, OJ L 337.

⁶⁶ Article 78 Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union and Case C-31/09 Nawras Bohol v Bevandorlasi es Allampolgarsagi Hivatal [2010].

⁶⁷ Article 2 (f) Directive 2011/95/EU.

⁶⁸ Ibid, 321.

⁶⁹ FARMER, Alice, 2008, Non-Refoulement and jus cogens: Limiting anti-terror measures that threaten refugee protection. *Georgetown Immigration Law Journal*. 2008. Vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 18-19.

⁷⁰ MYRSTAD, Finn and KOLMANNSKOG, Vikram, 2009, Environmental Displacement in European Asylum Law. European Journal of Migration and Law. 2009. Vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 313-326. DOI 10.1163/157181609789804321.

Why? It has been claimed that a fourth subsection was discussed during the drafting of the Qualitative Directive. This unrealized section would have entitled the applicant with the right to be protected against refoulement, thus providing subsidiary protection for people that fail to meet the requirements of the first 3 subsections. However, several member states asserted that the wording was too nebulous and therefore would have led to a too-wide spectrum of interpretation. It is common knowledge that environmental disasters and climate change is impossible to detach from its economic and political context. Many European states eschew the idea of having too wide of a spectrum in fear that economic migrants may try to take advantage of the system and/or the sheer influx of people including climate refugees, would overwhelm the immigration system. This is why such a broad interpretation was unlikely to pass. Even though subsection 4 was ultimately omitted, subsection 2 is theoretically capable of providing the same protection that was meant to be offered under subsection 4.

Another instrument that may be applicable to climate refugees is the Temporary Protection Directive. It is important to acknowledge that this tool is primarily utilized in the event of a mass influx of people, so it could be feasible in cases á la SIDS, and a catastrophic rise in sea level reaches the point of no return. The Temporary Protection Directive⁷³ has two main objectives: First, to set the parameters around the temporary protection the EU will provide in the scenario of a mass influx of non-EU displaced nationals who cannot return to their country of origin. Secondly, the Temporary Protection Directive is meant to balance the resources and efforts made by member states in solidarity as a consequence of taking in a mass influx of non-EU displaced nationals.74 The third chapter of the Temporary Protection Directive discloses the requirements on behalf of the member states towards people who are granted protection, such as employment, education, social services, and medical services amongst others.⁷⁵ To be clear, however, articles 2(c)(i) and (c)(ii) characterize displaced persons as "in particular" individuals who have fled areas of armed conflict or widespread violence and as people that are at grave risk of, or who have already been the victims of systemic or generalized violations of their human rights. 76 The use of the phrase "in particular" is noteworthy because it shows that the list is not exhaustive, which in turn, creates the potential for an extension to climate refugees. 77 As a result, the Temporary Protection Directive is a protective instrument that has a wider scope than the Qualification Directive and the 1951 Refugee Convention.

However, it is still important to take the limitations of the Temporary Protection Directive into account. The principal restriction is that this specific Directive only comes into play when there is a mass influx of people, and therefore does not apply to individual cases. Consequently, it is improbable that slow-onset environmental degradation that often is a result of climate change would result in a mass inflow of refugee applicants (except in the case of SIDS). Yet, natural disasters and sudden-onset environmental hazards sparked by climate change are possible, and the Temporary Protection Directive appears to be more suited for a resultant mass influx of refugee applicants in this scenario. (This is supposing only immediate, short-term protection.) Additionally, it is important to acknowledge that the European Council has never exercised the Temporary Protective Directive in reality. It has been cited that Italy and Malta have jointly attempted to invoke the Temporary Protective Directive to counter the mass inflow of applicants from Tunisia and Libya

⁷¹ Ibid, 320.

⁷² Ibid.

⁷³ Article 15 Directive 2011/95/EU.

⁷⁴ Ibid

⁷⁵ Article 8-19 Directive 2001/55/EC.

⁷⁶ Article 2 (c)(i) – (ii) Directive 2001/55/EC.

⁷⁷ COOPER, Michael D., 2012, Migration and Disaster-Induced Displacement: European Policy, Practice, and Perspective. SSRN Electronic Journal. 2012. DOI 10.2139/ssrn.2226540.

⁷⁸ Article 1 Directive 2001/55/EC.

⁷⁹ COOPER, supra note 77.

at the tumultuous zenith of the Arab Spring.⁸⁰ Plus, article 2(a) of the Temporary Protective Directive asserts that temporary protection should only be invoked under extraordinary circumstances.⁸¹ Given the nature of such a threshold, the Council of Europe is obligated to make a decision to proceed or not, as a follow-up to a proposal by the European Commission. Even then, the European Council must have a qualified majority to advance with a consensus that the circumstances meet the definition as one of a "mass influx" given that it is not explicitly defined in the Temporary Protective Directive.⁸² Therefore, it is possible that the Temporary Protective Directive Directive could be subject to politicized battles resulting in a higher threshold to succeed.

For climate refugees, it is not only an uphill battle to fall under the scope under this Directive if it is a slow-onset environmental degradation hazard, but also sudden-onset climatic hazards and natural disasters. More importantly, the Temporary Protective Directive is simply that, temporary, meaning that it does not have an established framework for those needing long-term solutions. This is especially relevant for those who are permanently displaced like those in the SIDS.

Analysis of the Conceptualization of Climate Refugees by the United Nations

In 2016, the UNHCR affirmed that displacement impacted by climate change could no longer be seen as an abstract hypothetical, but "a current reality".⁸³ It was estimated that at least 21.5 million people had been forcibly displaced internally and externally by foreseeable and sudden disasters due to climate change and global warming each year since 2008.⁸⁴ At this point, the UN was then using the term "forcibly displaced" to describe the plight of climate refugees. In this text, the multinational organization appears to refuse to acknowledge the term "climate refugee" because of the conflict of interest and implications for recognized political refugees under international law.

However, the UN continued to refer to the movement of these people affected by climate change in conformity with the category of *Forced Displacement*, by its notable usage of "forcibly displaced" when referring to climate refugees. Additionally, in the same report, the UN made a reference to the protection measures in place for "migrants" as being relevant and applicable to climate change refugees. Therefore, that would mean climate change refugees in turn, would fall under the umbrella of *Voluntary Displacement*. The UNHCR has supported the conceptualization of environmentally displaced peoples, disaster displacement, and climate-induced displacement when it has referred to climate change refugees. As such, in an overview of the categorizations, it is evident that the UN has remained relatively consistent in its application of the definition of displacement in contrast to migrant or refugee, rather discussing the predicament of climate refugees as both *Forced and Voluntary Displacement*. The UN summarizes, in a 2017 report, that the situation concerning climate refugees must be confronted in all cases regardless of whether it is slow or sudden-onset disasters.⁸⁶

In the December 2018 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) Conference of the Parties (COP24) summit in Katowice, Poland, Patricia Espinosa, Mexican diplomat and current Executive Secretary of the UNFCCC, declared that the effects of climate change would have substantial impacts in Global North and South and that in this issue, it is critical to be united as we are all connected as global

⁸⁰ KRALER, Albert, CERNEI, Tatiana, and NOACK, Marion. 2011. Directorate-General for Internal Policies: "Climate refugees", Legal and Policy Responses to Environmentally Induced Migration. European Parliament 1, 54.

⁸¹ Article 2 (a) Directive 2001/55/EC.

⁸² MYRSTAD, Finn and KOLMANNSKOG *supra* note 70.

⁸³ UNHCR. 2016. "Frequently asked questions on climate change and disaster displacement". [Accessed 16 March 2020] at: https://www.unhcr.org/news/latest/2016/11/581f52dc4/frequently-asked-questions-climate-change-disaster-displacement.html

⁸⁴ Ibid.

⁸⁵ Ibid.

⁸⁶ UNHCR. 2015. "Climate Change and Disasters". [Accessed 16 March 2020] at: http://www.unhcr.org/climate-change-and-disasters. html

citizens.⁸⁷ The UNFCCC Task Force on Displacement (TFD) published a report in advance of the summit in which they repeatedly referred to climate refugees as "climate change-related displacement" and that the TFD "recognizes displacement in both sudden and slow onset events" by climate change.⁸⁸ The report also mentioned that the TFD conceded that "migration" and "displacement" would be considered synonyms if it were in the context of climate refugees. It proceeded to define the movement of climate refugees as a type of migration, although not limited to it.⁸⁹

Furthermore, one noteworthy admission by the TFD is its failure to adequately address and support the voluntary adaptive movement of climate change-induced displacees, which could devolve into a situation of "forced displacement". Another interesting distinction highlighted by the TFD is that the agency only refers to the movement of climate refugees as a type of "migration" when it is in the context of slow-onset disasters, while "forced displacement is applied to sudden disasters". Onsequently, the position of the UN indirectly acknowledges and aligns with the stated problem of climate refugees because they are both affected by both *Forced and Voluntary Displacement* when using the terms "forced displacement" and "migration" to contextualize the situation of climate refugees.

10. The UN Global Compact on Refugees

10.1. Background Information

The Global Compact on Refugees (GCR) was founded upon the principles of the New York Declaration of September 2016. After two years of thorough, in-depth consultations spearheaded by the UNHCR to include UN member states, international organizations, civil society actors, refugee voices, experts, and the private sector, it was affirmed by the UN General Assembly on December 17th, 2018. Essentially, its primary objective is to strengthen the manner in which the international community responds to the ongoing large-scale and long-term displacement globally. Whilst giving light to the unique challenges associated with disparate refugee movements throughout the world, the GCR is "a framework for more predictable and equitable responsibility-sharing", according to the UNHCR. Ultimately, it has the potential to be utilized as a sort of a blueprint for governments, international actors, and other stakeholders with agreed upon rules to better facilitate the needs of the host populations and the refugees.

The Compact builds upon the foundation of the 1951 Refugee Convention, the regional refugee instruments, and the basic principles of existing human rights and humanitarian law within the wider international refugee protection regime. ⁹³ From this foundation, the GCR aspires to provide a basis for more effective operational responses that are consistent with binding legal standards in particular areas where gaps in practice endure. Given that it is also a non-binding instrument, it falls in line with the legal refugee protection regime with the hope of bolstering cooperation amongst states and solidarity with refugees, as well as collaboration with host communities.

⁸⁷ UNFCCC. 2018. "COP24 Addresses Climate Change Migration Ahead Of UN Migration Pact Meeting In Marrakech". [Accessed 16 March 2020] at: https://unfccc.int/news/cop24-addresses-climate-change-migration-ahead-of-un-migrationpact-meeting-in-marrakech

⁸⁸ UNFCCC-TFD. 2018. Report of the Task Force on Displacement. [Accessed 16 March 2020] at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/2018_TFD_report_17_Sep.pdf

⁸⁹ Ibid, 10.

⁹⁰ Ibid.

⁹¹ United Nations, Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees: Part I, Global Compact on Refugees, UN doc A/73/12 (Part I) (13 September 2018) Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/5c658aed4.pdf

⁹² Ibid

⁹³ United Nations, Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees: Part II, Global Compact on Refugees, UN doc A/73/12 (Part II) (13 September 2018) Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/5c658aed4.pdf

10.2. The Global Compact's Position on the Root Causes of Displacement

In terms of climate refugees, the Global Compact was the first normative framework to recognize climate change as a driver of migration. Paragraph 8 of the GCR acknowledges that "while not in themselves causes of refugee movements, climate, environmental degradation and natural disasters increasingly interact with the drivers of refugee movements. Additionally, Paragraph 12 further goes on to note that "external forced displacement may result from sudden-onset natural disasters and environmental degradation. Furthermore, Paragraph 8 expresses the compact's cautious approach to the characterization of displacement when it concerns climate change and disasters directly. It was clear in its indication that not all people forced to flee across borders in these situations will fall within the legal definition of a refugee. However, it affirms that the causes of needing to flee are complex, and that persecution, violence, and conflict may intersect with climate- and disaster-related events. As a result, people displaced across borders in this context could be entitled to international protection in some cases due to the nuances of particular situations. The crisis of how climate change is detrimentally affecting SIDS, as previously discussed and will be further explored in the Teitiota case is a prime example of how this is being tested.

Some have criticized the Global Compact, because although it has expanded protections to include those are being persecuted by gang violence or domestic abuse victims (combined with state inaction or lack of ability to protect them) for example, there are still tens of millions of displaced persons that remain unprotected, including climate refugees. While it was highly improbable that the GCR would have attempted to amend the definition of a refugee in the 1951 Refugee Convention directly, there was the possibility that it could have added more categories of displaced people in need of international protection who are not recognized as falling under the umbrella of said Convention. In fact, the UNHCR endeavored to do this in multiple iterations in the pre-final drafts. 99

Critics accurately assert that their inclusion would not have imposed any new obligations given that the Compact is non-binding. Indeed, the first draft was much more robust in wording. In Paragraph 52, it declares that "the need for international protection arises when persons are outside their own country and unable to return home because they would be at risk there, and their country is unable or unwilling to protect them". However, the member states opposed the bold rhetoric, which resulted in a second draft. The second draft declared "The need for international protection arises when persons are outside their own country and unable to return home because of risks *recognized under relevant international and regional law or instruments, as applicable in a specific context*" (para 65, emphasis added). In effect, the italicized language essentially delimited the 'need for international protection' to people already protected by the 1951 Refugee Convention and regional instruments (chiefly amongst them, the OAU Convention). This resulted in more criticism as "inadequate, as it is precisely the recognition that there are groups outside existing law that warrant international protection that needs to be affirmed". In the country is unable or unwilling to protect them the country is unable or unwilling to protect them.

Finally, the UNHCR settled on this final provision in Paragraph 61. It states: Mechanisms for the fair and efficient determination of individual international protection claims provide an opportunity for States to duly determine

⁹⁴ BEELER, Carolyn, 2018, UN compact recognizes climate change as driver of migration for first time. The World from PRX [online]. 11 December 2018. [Accessed 8 May 2020]. Available from: https://www.pri.org/stories/2018-12-11/un-compact-recognizes-climate-change-driver-migration-first-time

⁹⁵ TÜRK, Volker and GARLICK, Madeline, 2019, Addressing Displacement in the Context of Disasters and the Adverse Effects of Climate Change: Elements and Opportunities in the Global Compact on Refugees. *International Journal of Refugee Law.* 2019. Vol. 31, no. 2-3, pp. 389-399. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/eez029.

⁹⁶ Ibid.

⁹⁷ Ibid

⁹⁸ ALEINIKOFF, T Alexander, 2018, The Unfinished Work of the Global Compact on Refugees. *International Journal of Refugee Law.* 2018. Vol. 30, no. 4, p. 611–617. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/eey057.

⁹⁹ Ibid.

¹⁰⁰ Ibid.

¹⁰¹ Ibid.

¹⁰² Ibid.

the status of those on their territory in accordance with their applicable international and regional obligations (A/RES/72/150, para 51), in a way which avoids protection gaps and enables all those in need of international protection to find and enjoy it. 103

In this version, it is evident through the language that the GCR is not attempting to offer a new definition for all those in need of international protection that have fallen in the protection gap. Rather, it appears that it is putting the responsibility on the member states to fulfill this in a manner that is consistent, but technically not restricted by international and regional obligations. The reference made in the above mentioned Paragraph 8 to "increasing interaction", at least recognizes the principal cause of the refugee movement and climate change, environmental degradation, and disaster.

Chapter 2: Advocated Solutions

This chapter will discuss the advocated solutions proposed by the EU, the Global Compact on Refugees formulated by the UN, and the Nansen Initiative and its Protection Agenda. In addition, it will conclude with an analysis of the *Ioane Teitiota v. The Chief Executive of the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment* case and the recent UN Human Rights Committee review and ruling over it. Politically, the EU is willing to acknowledge the issue as one that needs to be addressed, but it is also disinterested in changing its migration policy for the time being. As such, some EU Member States have taken national responses that may help climate refugees on their own terms. Unfortunately for the plight of climate refugees, the GCR was relatively muted on their particular concerns. However, the Nansen Initiative and its Protection Agenda is the most advanced humanitarian framework that works to address the protection gaps for climate refugees and will be explained in detail. Lastly, it is important to address the relevance of the Teitiota case and why it has recently pushed the needle forward for aiding climate refugees.

1. Advocated Solutions by the EU

Starting with the European Commission's report from 2008, it was recommended that the organization should prepare for "environmentally-triggered additional migratory stress in the further development of a comprehensive European migration policy" and it should be dutifully exercised in conjunction with all other relevant international bodies. Additionally, the report found that the international security architecture was already stressed by the current migration policy as it stands. However, it admitted that it would be critical to address the status of climate refugees in global politics despite the probable increase of burden put upon international security. While the tone of the report suggested an openness for international cooperation for dealing with climate refugees, it did not indicate an outline or framework to do so. Therefore, until this point, according to this report, the EU had not yet decided on whether to keep the status quo with the 1951 Convention, reinterpret the Convention, or create a new regime outside of it.

By 2011, the European Parliament drafted a report analyzing to what extent the EU could respond to various problem scenarios of environmentally induced migrants within the current EU policy framework. The European Parliament stated that while it was apparent that climate refugees were steadily rising on the international agenda as a prominent issue due to the effects of climate change, it was still doubtful that the EU possessed the necessary instruments to address the issue. At the very least, those instruments would need to be modified to be more appropriate and adaptable for climate refugees. In addition, it was made clearer that in the current state of affairs, it appeared practically impossible to reimagine or interpret the existing EU policy framework could encompass climate refugees within the protection regime for recognized refugees. It was further held in the study that it was improbable that the EU would create a new specific legal framework just for climate refugees. One additional reason is that this would also entangle the EU asylum provisions. Effectively, the EU would need to "introduce provisions in the asylum legislation that considers displaced persons of both rapid- and slow-onset climate events". Any policy", the report states in relation to the different regional effects climate change will have on them and their migration patterns,

¹⁰⁴ European Commission. 2008. Climate Change and International Security Paper from the High Representative and the European Commission to the European Council. Accessed April 4 2020 at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/ueDocs/cms_Data/docs/pressdata/EN/reports/99387.pdf

European Parliament. 2011. "'Climate Refugees', Legal and Policy Responses to Environmentally Induced Migration" Accessed April 2020 at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/etudes/join/2011/462422/IPOL-LIBE_ET(20 11)462422_EN.pdf

¹⁰⁶ Ibid. 37

¹⁰⁷ REUBEN, Adam. 2017. "'Climate Refugees' and the EU: A Silent Response of what to Come?". Accessed April 2020 at: https://eulawpol57.wordpress.com/2017/10/climate-refugees-and-the-eu-a-silent-response-of-what-to-come/

¹⁰⁸ Ibid

"must be based on a clear understanding and a clear typology of the phenomenon of environmentally induced migration... to disentangle and reflect different dimensions". 109

To continue, the European Parliament drafted an updated report in 2018 which proposed: "a system that instead recognises the idea of climate change displacement at international level, while leaving the details regarding the form of agreement and degree of engagement to regional groupings, appears as possibly more responsive and appropriate to the problem. A regional system may better employ notions of subsidiarity that more accurately reflect the reality of state behaviour rather than installing a top-down legal framework". Hence, the advocated solution by the EU thus far appears to follow the status quo of the accepted interpretation of the 1951 Convention and allow regional and national frameworks to sort them out rather than undertake global cooperation efforts. Moreover, the European Parliament's report made a reference to the European Commission's Directorate-General for Environment (managed by Director-General Daniel Calleja Crespo) which asserted that "migration patterns to the EU are already being affected by climate change, and that 'climate refugees' may not only be individuals coming to the EU but also EU citizens moving within Member States". Hill

On the domestic front, the European Parliament argues that climate refugees could be covered under the regulations on the free movement of people in this context because it is already built into EU law. However, the policy and solutions for those climate refugees who would be coming from the outside would not be covered, only those migrating between member states. Lastly, the European Parliament report stated further research would be needed on the specific type of displacement of climate refugees and its limitations through the regional instruments to determine the possibility of the issue being brought up in customary international law. Although the report admitted that it was "far-reaching proposition at present", it recognized the slow yet burgeoning development of climate change-related laws in individual states and regional agreements that have been compelled to make them. Plus, the report also noted that as these policies coalesce around the world, it could push customary international law to evolve. In effect, the EU could change their stance from adhering to the status quo to advocating for a new type of regime.

Nevertheless, the European Union as a whole does not appear to have plans to change this stance currently. Therefore, the overall assessment of the advocated solution provided by the EU would be to not advocate for changes to the 1951 Convention, but to stand by regional responses.

2. National Responses

Within the EU member states, there have been a large number of national responses to deal with the problem indirectly via nationally defined protection statuses throughout the past two decades. These have been variously framed as "complementary forms of protection", "non-harmonized protection statuses", "categorial protection" or merely "humanitarian statuses", which all to a great extent respond to the relevant case law of national higher courts, based on national human rights law plus the European Convention of Human Rights as well as on the case-law of the European Court of Human Rights in Strasbourg. ¹¹⁴ Even though humanitarian protection statuses are primarily invoked in expulsion cases or when applications for a right to stay on other grounds have been rejected, some EU member states also provide for humanitarian admissions from abroad. A 2011 study on non-harmonized protection statuses found there are at least sixty non-EU harmonized

¹⁰⁹ European Parliament supra, note 104.

¹¹⁰ European Parliament. 2018. "The concept of 'climate refugee' Towards a possible definition". Accessed April 2020 at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2018/621893/EPRS_BRI(2018)621 893_EN.pdf

¹¹¹ Ibid, 9.

¹¹² Ibid.

¹¹³ Ibid, 10.

¹¹⁴ KRALER, Albert, 2011, Fixing, Adjusting, Regulating, Protecting Human Rights - The Shifting Uses of Regularisations in the European Union. *European Journal of Migration and Law.* 2011. Vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 297-316. DOI 10.1163/157181611x587865.

protection statuses at the national level of EU member states.¹¹⁵ However, only a very small number of EU member states have introduced and ratified express provisions that specifically address the protection needs of climate refugees. Furthermore, other legislation from member states might be interpreted *lato sensu* (meaning in a broad sense) as potentially applicable also concerning climate refugees.¹¹⁶

3. EU Member States with Express Provisions for Environmental Displacement

There are only four member states (Cyprus, Finland, Italy, and Sweden) that have explicit provisions for environmental displacement with the potential to cover climate refugees. However, even within these countries there are stipulations that can make it difficult for a climate refugee to receive protection.

In Cyprus: Article 29 (4) of the Refugee Law of 2000 provides that:

"No refugee or a person with a subsidiary protection status shall be deported to any country where his life or freedom will be endangered or he will be in danger of being subjected to torture or inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment or persecution for reasons of sex, race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion or because of armed conflict or environmental destruction".

However, it is important to note that the threshold of persecution is still required to receive refugee status, and natural disaster is not recognized as persecution. And this stated protection of non-refoulement is only available for those who have already received humanitarian protection or granted refugee status.¹¹⁷

In Finland, there is a more comprehensive policy regarding environmental displacees and climate refugees. In Section 109(1) of the Aliens Acts, it stipulates that:

"Temporary protection may be given to aliens who need international protection and who cannot return safely to their home country or country of permanent residence, because there has been a massive displacement of people in the country or its neighbouring areas as a result of an armed conflict, some other violent situation or an environmental disaster".

Furthermore, Section 88a (1) of the Aliens Acts provides for more all-encompassing humanitarian protection if

"An alien residing in Finland is issued with a residence permit on the basis of humanitarian protection, if there are no grounds under section 87 or 88 for granting asylum or providing subsidiary protection, but he or she cannot return to his or her country of origin or country of former habitual residence as a result of an environmental catastrophe or a bad security situation which may be due to an international or internal armed conflict or a poor human rights situation".

However, this is under the condition that the maximum length of the temporary protection provided would be three years. ¹¹⁸ In Italy, Article 20 of Legislative Decree number 286 of 25.07.1998 on the consolidated text of provisions governing immigration and the status of the foreigner provides for extraordinary measures in case of exceptional circumstances and declares the following:

"By decree of the Prime Ministers [...] the temporary protection measures should be adopted, as an exception to the provisions of this single text, in the case of major humanitarian needs, on the occasion of conflicts, natural disasters or other particularly serious events in countries outside the EU"."

^{115 &#}x27;The different national practices concerning granting of non-EU harmonised protection statuses', produced by European Migration Network, p. 105, available at:

 $http://emn.intrasoftintl.com/Downloads/prepareShowFiles.do; jsessionid=4D19F304BDB6A81B9C1C8519414938AC? entryTitle=06_The%20different%20national%20practices%20concerning%20granting%20of%20NONEU%20H ARMONISED%20PROTECTION%20STATUSES$

¹¹⁶ European Parliament. *supra* note 104.

¹¹⁷ Ibid.

¹¹⁸ Ibid.

¹¹⁹ Original text available only in Italian at: http://www.immigrazione.regione.toscana.it/lenya/paesi/live/contenuti/norme/286-paesi_ it.html?datafine=20110806 &css=

It is important to recognize that while it does provide temporary protection in the case of environmental disasters, this clause has only proven to be theoretical as it has never been put into practice. Finally, in the case of Sweden, Section 2(3) of Swedish Aliens Act dictates that a 'person otherwise in need of protection' is an alien who in cases other than those referred to in Section 1 [refugee grounds] is outside the country of the foreigner's nationality, as he or she is unable to return to the country of origin because of an **environmental disaster**. Nevertheless, "the applicability of this provision is limited to cases of sudden environmental disasters; therefore, slow-onset environmental changes are not considered". ¹²¹

4. Advocated Solutions by the UN

4.1. Advocated Solutions within Global Compact on Refugees

The GCR promotes the use of existing legal national and regional frameworks to apply to ensure international protection and for other measures for climate refugees that may be fleeing due to multiple catalysts. Additionally, the GCR advocates for arrangements for temporary protection and humanitarian stay that could be considered on a complementary basis in which they may be applicable to international law and standards. The GCR also emphasizes increased guidance and aid for the implementation of measures to protect and give humanitarian assistance. Most likely, this would come from the UNHCR due to its experience of responding to various types of displacement crises. 123

Although the GCR advocates that all migrants, including climate refugees, must have their basic needs met and their vulnerabilities to be taken care of, it does place a special focus on the responsibility-sharing for UN member states to undertake the added challenge of climate refugees fleeing environmental degradation and disaster. To mobilize international cooperation, the GCR proposed a global mechanism, the Global Refugee Forum, at the ministerial to be held every four years. ¹²⁴ The first of which convened in Geneva in 2019. "At these fora, member states and other relevant stakeholders are encouraged to make concrete pledges towards the achievement of the goals of the GCR, including through financial, material, and technical assistance; review of national policies, laws, and practices; and resettlement places and complementary pathways for admission for those with international protection needs". ¹²⁵

What is notable about all of these advocated solutions is that these are quite general. Of course, the GCR is meant to cast a wide net for all types of refugees, and it would be extremely difficult to pinpoint every situation, but nothing is mentioned in particular about climate refugees besides ideas that relate to prevention. This means that in the pledges of the GCR, it does address climate change but only in the form of seeking to achieve climate neutrality consistent with the UN Sustainable Development Goals.

4.2. The Nansen Initiative and the Protection Agenda

The Nansen Initiative was initially launched by the Governments of Norway and Switzerland in October 2012 recognizing that under existing international law there is not a viable assurance that people who are compelled to flee across international borders due to natural disasters and climate change would be admitted and receive assistance, let alone find sustainable solutions to their displacement. It was a consultative process with states, civil society, academics, international organizations, and affected communities with an objective to identify the most effective practices and build a consensus on "key principles and elements" to address the

¹²⁰ European Parliament. supra, note 104.

¹²¹ Ibid.

¹²² TÜRK, Volker and GARLICK, Madeline, 2019, Addressing Displacement in the Context of Disasters and the Adverse Effects of Climate Change: Elements and Opportunities in the Global Compact on Refugees. International Journal of Refugee Law. 2019. Vol. 31, no. 2-3p. 389–399. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/eez029. Page 393.

¹²³ Ibid.

¹²⁴ Ibid, 397.

¹²⁵ Ibid.

needs of climate refugees. ¹²⁶ Essentially, the Nansen Initiative was a "state-led bottom-up" approach striving to achieve international consensus on a "protection agenda" for addressing the needs of the population displaced across international borders by disasters and climate change. The Nansen Initiative was completed in December 2015 and laid the genesis of the Protection Agenda. The Nansen Initiative decided that the outcome of its work would be the Protection Agenda with three core pillars¹²⁷:

- 1. Standards for the treatment of people displaced across borders regarding admission, stay, status, and transition to solutions
- **2. International cooperation and solidarity** between states and with the international community before (preparedness), during (admission, temporary protection), and after (durable solutions) a natural disaster;
- **3. Operational responses,** including in the areas of preparedness, cross-border assistance, solutions, and the respective roles of relevant disaster management, humanitarian, development, and climate change actors

In addition, the Nansen Initiative planned that the Protection Agenda would encapsulate the three primary phases in the forced migration movement. These are "preparedness before displacement occurs, protection (including admission to other countries) and assistance during displacement, and transition to durable solutions in the aftermath of the disaster". ¹²⁸

Before analyzing in greater profundity, it is essential to note that the Protection Agenda is a policy document that is not legally binding. Rather than creating new legal obligations for migrant-destination states that may lack the political will to adhere to them, "the agenda supports an approach that focuses on the integration of effective practices by states and (sub-) regional organizations in accordance with states specific situations and challenges".¹²⁹

The Protection Agenda is divided into three main sections. Part One provides recommendations and best practices for protecting climate refugees. This part is further subdivided into three subsections with the first subsection dealing with "admission and stay of cross-border disaster-displaced persons" and the second subsubsection dealing with "non-return of foreigners abroad at the time of a disaster". The third subsection addresses "finding lasting solutions for cross-border disaster-displaced persons". ¹³⁰ Part One contains several paragraphs that advocate for provisions that guarantee the recognition and protections for climate refugees. For example, paragraph 32 acknowledges the inherent challenges in determining whether a movement across an international border is forced or voluntary for the purpose of determining the status of the persons involved in such movement. However, the subsequent paragraph pinpoints factors which states could consider in determining who is or who is not a climate refugee. These include:

- 1. An on-going or, in rare cases, an imminent and foreseeable disaster in the country of origin poses a real risk to his/her life or safety
- 2. As a direct result of the disaster, the person has been wounded, lost family members, and/or lost his/her (means of) livelihood
- 3. In the aftermath and as a direct result of the disaster, the person faces a real risk to his/her life or safety or very serious hardship in his/her country, in particular due to the fact that he/she cannot access needed humanitarian protection and assistance in that country
 - a. because such protection and assistance is not available due to the fact that government capacity to respond is temporarily overwhelmed, and humanitarian access for international actors is not possible or seriously undermined

¹²⁶ Nansen Initiative. 2015. Disaster-Induced Cross-Border Displacement. Cross-border displacement.

¹²⁷ Ibid.

¹²⁸ Ibid.

¹²⁹ Nansen Initiative, 2015. Agenda for the Protection of Cross-Border Displaced Persons in the Context of Disasters and Climate Change Volume I. *The Nansen Initiative*.

¹³⁰ Ibid

b. or because factual or legal obstacles makes it impossible for him/her to reach available protection and assistance.¹³¹

The second part of the Protection Agenda centers around "managing disaster displacement risk in the country of origin". Part Two is subdivided into four subsections. Subsection one addresses the reduction of "vulnerability and building resilience to displacement risk". The facilitation of "migration with dignity", and "planned relocation with respect for people's rights" are addressed in subsections two and three respectively while subsection four concentrates on "addressing the needs of internally displaced persons in disaster contexts". In disaster contexts.

Part Three indicates the "priority areas for future action". The objective of this part is the recommendation of effective practices that will lead to the overall implementation of the Agenda. Part Three of the Agenda is also subdivided into four subsections. Subsection one focuses on the collection of data and enhancement of knowledge on climate change-related cross-border disaster-displacement and highlights the need for more holistic data collection strategies. This subsection denotes a dearth of "comprehensive, reliable and timely global data on cross-border disaster-displacement" despite the gains made by "academic institutions, and non-governmental and international governmental organizations and agencies" on the issue. ¹³⁵ Subsection two of part three of the Protection Agenda stresses the use of humanitarian protection measures for climate refugees. ¹³⁶ Paragraph 114 indicates that while some countries have local laws and policies which guarantee humanitarian assistance for climate refugees, most do not have this kind of arrangement in place. It recommends "improved accountability for protection and assistance" not only in states that do not have local laws and policies, but also in those that do.

Subsection three addresses "strengthening the management of disaster displacement risk in the country of origin", but does not suggest anything novel that was not stated in Part Two. To encourage the implementation of the Protection Agenda, subpart four, which is titled "Possible Next Steps" recommends the continuation of follow-ups in the form of "a forum for dialogue among interested States to further discuss how best to protect cross-border disaster displaced persons [climate refugees], and prevent disaster displacement, where possible". Lastly, it also advocates "cooperation and coordination between international organizations and agencies, and other relevant actors, in order to ensure a comprehensive approach to cross-border disaster displacement". Lastly is a comprehensive approach to cross-border disaster displacement.

4.3. The Relevance of the Ioane Teitiota v. The Chief Executive of the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment case

Introduction

A New Zealand case that involved an application for refugee status based on the effects of climate change in the Pacific Island nation of Kiribati has received international media attention. The proceedings in the case came to a close in July 2015, when the Supreme Court of New Zealand, the highest court in the land, dismissed Teitiota's application for leave to appeal the Court of Appeal's decision in which it later ruled against him. 139

¹³¹ Ibid, para. 33

¹³² Ibid, paras. 76-86.

¹³³ Ibid, paras. 87-93.

¹³⁴ Ibid, paras. 94-98.

¹³⁵ Ibid, para. 112.

¹³⁶ Ibid, para. 114-115.

¹³⁷ Ibid, para. 125.

¹³⁸ Ibid.

¹³⁹ Buchanan, K. & Law Library Of Congress, U. S. G. L. R. D. (2015) New Zealand, "climate change refugee" case overview. [Washington, D.C.: The Law Library of Congress, Global Legal Research Center] [Pdf] Retrieved from the Library of Congress, https://www.loc.gov/item/2016295703/.

However, after reviewing the case, the U.N. Human Rights Committee ruled in a landmark judgment that climate refugees could not be returned to respect the principle of 'right to life'.

Case Summary

Mr. Ioane Teitiota and his wife moved to New Zealand from Kiribati in 2007. They subsequently had three children, who were born in New Zealand but not entitled to New Zealand citizenship due to the Citizenship Act 1977. The family remained in the country illegally following the expiration of their visas in October 2010. To avoid deportation, Mr. Teitiota applied for refugee status under Part 5 of the Immigration Act 2009 promptly after his visa expired. This legislation incorporates into domestic law the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees.

Mr. Teitiota cited rising sea levels as a threat to his and his family's lives. Additionally, he claimed that it was difficult to access safe drinking water and that he faced land disputes. Indeed, Kiribati is a nation at risk of becoming the first country to sink due to rising sea levels. Mr. Teitiota argued that because his native island of South Tarawa is expected to become uninhabitable in the next 10 to 15 years, his and his family's lives are demonstrably at risk. It is true that South Tarawa has become overcrowded as a consequence of neighboring islands becoming uninhabitable, which in turn forced many people to seek refuge in South Tarawa. The island has undergone a massive spike in population. To illustrate, in 1947, South Tarawa was home to only 1671 people but by 2010 housed over 50,000. Overcrowding is suspected to have resulted in increased violence on the island, which also now lacks fresh water and is facing agricultural challenges. Mr.

A refugee and protection officer declined to grant the Teitiota family refugee status, and this decision was later upheld by the Immigration and Protection Tribunal. Thereafter, Mr. Teitiota sought leave from the High Court to appeal the Tribunal's decision on questions of law under section 245 of the Immigration Act 2009. His application for leave to appeal to the High Court was subsequently declined by both the High Court and Court of Appeal in 2013 and 2014, respectively. On July 20, 2015, the Supreme Court upheld the decisions of the lower courts and dismissed Mr. Teitiota's application for leave to appeal. 142

The Supreme Court Decision vs. UN Human Rights Committee

After Mr. Teitota applied to the Supreme Court for leave to appeal against the decision of the Court of Appeal, it did confirm the lower courts' findings that, in relation to the Refugee Convention, Mr. Teitiota did not face "serious harm". Furthermore, "there is no evidence that the Government of Kiribati [was] failing to take steps to protect its citizens from the effects of environmental degradation to the extent that it can". However, it is important to note that the Supreme Court did leave room for future cases and investigations as climate change continues. The Supreme Court explicitly stated that the statements of the IPT and High Court that their decisions "did not mean that environmental degradation resulting from climate change or other natural disasters could never create a pathway into the Refugee Convention or protected person jurisdiction". Additionally, the Court similarly made clear that its decision in this particular case "should not be taken as ruling out that possibility in an appropriate case". 144

Five years later, the case had garnered enough global traction to reach the UN Human Rights Committee. Although there was dissension within the tribunal, the UN Human Rights Committee concluded that it was acceptable for New Zealand to reject Mr. Teitota's request for refugee status. ¹⁴⁵ Why? The evidence presented in the case suggested that Kiribati would only become uninhabitable in 10 to 15 years. Thus, the Committee

¹⁴⁰ GODIN, Mélissa, 2020, Climate Refugees Cannot Be Sent Home, U.N. Rules. *Time* [online]. 20 January 2020. [Accessed 6 June 2020]. Available from: https://time.com/5768347/climate-refugees-un-ioane-teitiota/

¹⁴¹ Ibid

¹⁴² United States Law Library of Congress, 2015.

¹⁴³ Ibid.

¹⁴⁴ Ibid.

¹⁴⁵ UN Human Rights Committee, 2020.

concluded that this "could allow for intervening acts by the republic of Kiribati, with the assistance of the international community, to take affirmative measures to protect and, where necessary, relocate its population". 146

Moreover, according to testimonies and expert panelists, Kiribati was already in the process of taking adaptive measures "to reduce existing vulnerabilities and build resilience to climate change-related harms". Therefore, the Committee concluded that they were not in the position to rule that deportation back to Kiribati amounted to a denial of justice for Mr. Teitota's right to life.

Although this was a loss for Mr. Teitota's individual case, the importance of the Committee's further ruling has historical significance. It declared that "without robust national and international efforts, the effects of climate change in receiving states may expose individuals to a violation of their rights under articles 6 or 7 of the Covenant, thereby triggering the non-refoulement obligations of sending states". Effectively, articles 6 and 7 the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights prohibit states under international law from sending refugees back to their home countries, especially given that "the risk of an entire country becoming submerged underwater is such an extreme risk, the conditions of life in such a country may become incompatible with the right to life with dignity before the risk is realized". The Committee also recognized that slow-onset processes due to climate change such as land degradation, sea-level rise, and salinization and equally propel people to flee from climate-related harm like those who are displaced by sudden-onset events such as flooding or dangerous storms. This judgment was the *first of its kind* for climate refugees and progress towards bridging the gap for protection. It is now established that climate conditions can trigger the non-refoulement obligations of sending states.

¹⁴⁶ Ibid.

¹⁴⁷ Ibid.

¹⁴⁸ Ibid.

Chapter 3: The Case for the Climate Refugee Crisis as a Human Rights Issue

1. Amending the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees?

While the 1951 Convention is a hallmark of international refugee law, which itself could be considered to fall under the vast umbrella of human rights law, it is the primary narrow lens in which we view the climate refugee. As previously discussed, the 1951 Convention is only applicable in very specific cases linked to environmental phenomena. For example, a scenario in which the government fails to protect against the effects of environmental change which affects a particular social group. Therefore, a refugee could have a demonstrable basis to claim if members of that group fled to another state as a result of negligence or deliberate policy of the host country to protect a particular social group. Another possible basis of a refugee claim could be found in the scenario of an international exodus resulting from a prior conflict affecting a particular social group over access to environmental resources such as water or arable land.¹⁴⁹

However, key stakeholders such as the UNHCR, the EU, and other leading international refugee experts such as Kälin and McAdam have voiced concerns over the extension of the scope to the 1951 Convention for climate refugees. There is much apprehension that any type of expansion or amendment of the definition of a refugee would lead to a grave devaluation of the current protection for 'convention refugees' because it may "encourage receiving states to treat (refugees) in the same way as 'economic migrants' to reduce their responsibility to protect and assist", according to the European Parliament. Furthermore, the UNHCR has concerned that any initiatives to amend the definition of a refugee would consequently risk the renegotiation of the 1951 Convention. That type of gamble could result in lowering protection standards for refugees of all stripes and undermine the current international refugee protection systems due to the politically hostile environment to mass influxes of refugees today. "The reality is that there is no consensus for extending the refugee regime. Most receiving states want to restrict it further than improve it". 151

2. The Shortcomings of the Global Compact on Refugees and the Protection Agenda

As previously mentioned, the GCR was disappointing for the advancement of protections for climate refugees. While it is true that dedicating resources to preventing climate change is beneficial for climate refugees and more so, for potential climate refugees in the future, it fails to address the populations that are already fleeing. Pledges such as: "To reduce the negative impact on the climate and the environment in response to refugee situations" or "Actively promote green humanitarian response to ensure that environmental and climate-related considerations are fully integrated into humanitarian responses" are theoretically responsible steps. However, these pledges remain abstract and vague without concrete actionable steps to achieve those objectives. Another "yawning gap" according to Aleinikoff is that the GCR is the failure to include internally displaced people who make up "tens of millions" of refugees and a significant proportion of climate refugees. 153

¹⁴⁹ These scenarios were the only two recognized by the European Parliament 2011 study on climate refugees. European Parliament. 2011.

¹⁵⁰ UNHCR, 2009.

¹⁵¹ CASTLES, Stephen., 2006. Global perspectives on forced migration. Asian and Pacific Migration Journal, 15(1), pp. 7-28.

¹⁵² UN Global Compact on Refugees.

¹⁵³ ALEINIKOFF, T Alexander (2018), The Unfinished Work of the Global Compact on Refugees. International Journal of Refugee Law. 2018. Vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 611–617. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/eey057. Page 615.

2.1. The UNHCR's reticence to include more about climate change came from pressure from some

UN Member States.¹⁵⁴ Ultimately, it pushed the dilemma of climate refugees onto the UN Migration Compact which is primarily about 'voluntary' economic migrants. Perhaps it would have been more coherent to amalgamate all issues that concern displacement and forced migration under the GCR. The GCR falls short of explicitly linking forced migration and climate change because the UN Member States recognize refugee norms as binding. Hence, the inclusion of climate refugees in the GCR would threaten to impose new mandates and obligations on UN Member States, whereas in the UN Migration Compact would not. 155

The Protection Agenda of the Nansen Initiative remains the most advanced international normative framework for helping to breach protection gaps for climate refugees. It is successful in the fact that it has been endorsed by over 100 states which shows that the international community is at least about to acknowledge the critical nature of the issue in the theoretical sense. 156 However, it is still merely a toolbox in name with no legal recourse to force states to take action. Having been a part of the task force designing the Protection Agenda, Kälin said, "There is absolutely no willingness right now to adopt a binding legal instrument at the global level. Even if we were to get such an instrument, many states would not ratify it, particularly countries that would be the destination of displaced people". 157 Taking this assertion into account, the Protection Agenda does not exert enough pressure upon states to fulfill any particular recommendation of the framework. This would mean that the states would most likely not be inclined to fulfill the more strenuous parts of responsibility / burden-sharing. In the worst-case scenario, this means that climate refugees are ultimately still stuck in the same legal limbo as before due to the Protection Agenda's lack of legal bindingness.

3. Expanding the Lens Under a Human Rights Framework

While international refugee law is limited in scope, having the 1951 Refugee Convention as its foundation, international human rights law has a variety of sources. This most principal basis is the International Bill of Human Rights, however, there are many other declarations and conventions that address critical human rights issues such as the prohibition of torture¹⁵⁸, prevention of genocide¹⁵⁹, or the rights of people with disabilities¹⁶⁰. The United Nations Treaty Collection contains sixteen different instruments under its general section of "human rights", but there are a myriad of other sections that are dedicated to issues that are under the umbrella of human rights.¹⁶¹ For example, three sections are outlined under "status of women", eleven sections under "traffic in persons" and more under "health". 162 The point is that the jurisdiction over what is considered to be within the framework of human rights law is broad and inclusive.

While it is true that the International Bill of Human Rights and other major treaties were adopted before climate change was a critical issue for human security, that does not mean that the right to a safe and clean environment has not been proposed to be a binding legislation. However, according to the Australian Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission, "the environmental dimension of these rights has therefore not been extensively articulated and the precise connection between climate change and the international

¹⁵⁴ Interview with Martina Castiglioni, IOM.

¹⁵⁵ Ibid.

¹⁵⁶ KALIN, Walter. (2019). INTERNATIONAL RESPONSES TO CLIMATE-RELATED MIGRATION. Journal of International Affairs, 73(1), 255-260. doi:10.2307/26872797.

¹⁵⁷ Ibid.

¹⁵⁸ Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (adopted on 10 December 1984, entered into force on 26 June 1987).

¹⁵⁹ Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (adopted on 9 December 1948, entered into force on 12 January 1951).

¹⁶⁰ Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (adopted on 13 December 2006, entered into force on 3 May 2008).

¹⁶¹ See: UN Treaty Collection. Available at: http://treaties.un.org/Pages/ParticipationStatus.aspx [Accessed 3 May 2020].

¹⁶² Ibid.

human rights law system is as yet undeveloped". ¹⁶³ In 1994, the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment drafted a report which concluded that "everyone has a right to a safe and healthy environment". A Draft Declaration of Principles on Human Rights and the Environment was even appended to the report as well, but a legally binding treaty was never fully realized. ¹⁶⁴ Although there is yet to be a codified human right to a clean environment, there are a number of recognized human rights that are currently / will be compromised by slow-onset environmental degradation and sudden-onset natural disasters for climate refugees (especially those from SIDS) that I will argue in greater depth in the following section.

3.1. Right to Life

The extreme challenges that affront climate refugees, particularly those from SIDS, will be a threat to their lives and physical wellbeing. The right to life is enshrined in Article 3 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and Article 6(1) of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. They both declare that "everyone has the right to life, liberty and security of person", and that "every human being has the inherent right to life". Additionally, the Convention on the Right of the Child upholds the right to life of children. 1655

"The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights has recognized that realization of the right to life is necessarily linked to and dependent on the physical environment", McAdam affirmed. In addition, McAdam asserted that the rights upheld by the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights to an adequate standard of living, adequate supply of food, housing and the continuous improvement of living conditions can all be seen as necessary components of the right to life. In 1982, the Human Rights Committee also affirmed in its General Comment No. 6 on the right to life that "the expression inherent right to life' cannot properly be understood in a restrictive manner" and has been "too often narrowly interpreted".

While the human right to life is *de jure*, inalienable, and universal, meaning that no one can deny any human being this right, securing and enforcing this right is only effective when a state has the obligation to do it. Essentially, this means that the de facto effectiveness is frequently very different from the *de jure* guarantees that are outlined in the human rights instruments. The primary disadvantage of initiatives aimed at improving human rights conditions for any type of migrant in receiving countries is that they may only apply to migrants and forcibly displaced people that are already within the territory of the host country. Thus, they do not provide protection in the country of origin or while people are on the move. This would harm the chances for many climate refugees.

The general consensus is that states only have a direct human rights obligation to people within their territory or jurisdiction. Moreover, even if a forcibly displaced person like a climate refugee reaches the territory of another state, international human rights law generally does not give rise to a right to remain within that state's territory and prevent it from sending the person back. However, this is where I contend that the principle of non-refoulement could potentially apply for the benefit of climate refugees given that it is rooted in international customary law and international human rights law. As established by the ruling for climate refugees by the UN Human Rights Committee in the Teitiota case, the principle of non-refoulement upholds

¹⁶³ Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (HREOC) Australia, 'Background Paper: Human Rights and Climate Change', 2008, 3; see also: Advisory Council of Jurists of the Asia Pacific Forum, 'Observations and Recommendations – Reference on the Right to Environment', 2007. Available at: http://www.asiapacificforum.net/acj/references/righttoenvironment/downloads/environment/observations_recommendations.doc

¹⁶⁴ UNCommissiononHumanRights, 'DraftDeclarationofPrinciplesonHumanRightsandtheEnvironment', UNDoc, E/CN.4/Sub.2/1994/9, 6 July 1994. Available at: http://www.unhchr.ch/Huridocda/Huridoca.nsf/0/eeab2b6937bccaa18025675c005779c3?Opendocument

¹⁶⁵ Convention on the Right of the Child, Article 6 (ratified on 20 November 1989, entered into force on 2 September 1990).

¹⁶⁶ MCADAM, Jane, 2011. However, the case concerned Brazilian Yanomami indigenous peoples who lost one-fifth of their tribe due to gold-miners spreading disease and pollution in the 1980s.

¹⁶⁷ Ibid.

¹⁶⁸ UN Human Rights Committee, 'General Comment No. 6 – The Right to Life', 1982. Available at: http://www.unhchr.ch/tbs/doc.nsf/%28Symbol%29/84ab9690ccd81fc7c12563ed0046fae3?Opendocument

¹⁶⁹ CASTLES, Stephen., 2006.

the prohibition of returning any individual to circumstances where their lives might be in danger or where they might be subjected to inhumane or degrading treatment.¹⁷⁰

Of course, not every climate refugee has a scenario as extreme as those of disappearing states. There are nuances in every case and there are still protection gaps to be filled. For example, climate refugees displaced by sudden-onset natural disasters could arguably use the UN Guiding Principles of Human Rights for protection against forced migration if the land was left uninhabitable or hazardous enough to be unsustainable for one's livelihood. The However, the idea of climate change as a use of force remains subjective and debatable. Climate refugees fleeing from slow-onset environmental degradation that is not as drastic as those in sinking states have a more difficult threshold of force to prove. Naturally, people will often try to escape those situations in anticipation of disaster refusing to wait until climate change damages their livelihoods to such a high degree. Unfortunately, it is practically impossible to determine at which point a situation becomes so dire that a climate refugee is no longer a voluntary economic migrant and in need of protection under human rights law. Nevertheless, international human rights law in 2020 has already shown through the UN ruling of the Teitiota alone and further challenges to the European Court of Human Rights more binding legal potential for climate refugees than those of international refugee law has in the past two decades.

3.2. Further Advantages of International Human Rights Law

Given that it is evident that climate change is violating climate refugees' human rights to life (as shown in the Teitiota case) and potentially others such as the right to health and right to water, there are certain policy effects that states would need to take into account. The most important of those is: The economic and/or social costs to those causing climate change (particularly in the Global North) that are incurred by policies meant to reduce the threat of climate change to climate refugees would become irrelevant for policy. This means that if an individual or entity is violating human rights, it is imperative that they desist even if it is costly while it seems practically implausible in terms of climate change since many powerful states are main contributors, it has happened in the past. For example, the abolition of slavery was quite costly to slave importers and slave owners, but their costs were deemed irrelevant by nature of policy. International human rights law is meant to establish obligations that are not diluted by economic self-interest. 173

Another advantage is the fact that international human rights law can address internally displaced climate refugees. For forced internal displacement, the soft-law UNHCR Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement is applicable.¹⁷⁴ The added value of these Guiding Principles is that it explicitly includes disasters in the definition to recognize that people who have been displaced by disasters also have human rights and protection that necessitates international attention.¹⁷⁵

4. Navigating EU's Human Rights Policy for the Advancement of Climate Refugees

Although the EU has been a leader in the global fight against climate change, it has been noticeably stagnant on the legal fight for protections for climate refugees. Most likely due to the large influx of refugees in recent years, the EU currently lacks the political will to take on more obligations. As previously discussed, climate refugees risk serious violations of their human rights (the right to life in particular). This is why it is critical to

¹⁷⁰ UN Human Rights Committee, 2020.

¹⁷¹ BEHRMAN, Simon and KENT, Avidan, 2018, *Climate refugees: beyond the legal impasse?* Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge, an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group.

¹⁷² WESTRA, Laura and SATVINDER, Juss, 2017, Towards a refugee oriented right of asylum. Routledge. pp. 51-55.

¹⁷³ Ibid.

¹⁷⁴ Ibid 171. p. 19.

¹⁷⁵ Ibid.

note that all EU Member States are party to the primordial human right treaties and based on Article 52 (2&3) EU Charter, the European Court of Human Rights is indirectly able to affect the judgments of the CJEU. 176

To determine whether climate refugees could be protected from being removed to their country of origin where they would "fear torture and inhuman or *degrading treatment*" based on socio-economic deprivation, case law from both the CJEU and the European Court of Human Rights has been investigated previously, but the differences in the specificities of climate refugees' situations still require further research by EU institutions. ¹⁷⁷ What is promising, however, is that the European Court of Human Rights could adopt a similar posture to the one of the UN Human rights Committee in the Teitiota case. In effect, this would engage the EU's non-refoulement obligations.

Although neither the European Court of Human Rights nor the CJEU, has ever dealt with cases concerning the protection against refoulement to be granted to climate refugees, the European Court of Human Rights seems likely to adopt a similar reasoning than the UN Human Rights Committee, based on its extensive interpretation of Article 3 of the ECHR prohibiting removal contrary to this provision, according to EU immigration experts. Conversely, it is possible the CJEU might exclude climate refugees from subsidiary protection (under the QD as discussed in Chapter 1). However, the CJEU could take such a scenario into consideration under Article 4 of the EU Charter of fundamental rights, the equivalent of Article 3 ECHR, hence adopting a reasoning similar to the European Court of Human Rights and the UN Human Rights Committee.

¹⁷⁶ VAN DUREN, Cee., 2018. The legal obligations for the European Union to protect climate-induced migrants crossing European borders. Tilburg University Law School.

¹⁷⁷ Ibid

¹⁷⁸ Ibid; DELVAL, Eugénie, 2020. From the U.N. Human Rights Committee to European Courts: Which protection for climate-induced displaced persons under European Law? EU Immigration and Asylum Law and Policy. Available at: http://eumigrationlawblog.eu/from-the-u-n-human-rights-committee-to-european-courts-which-protection-for-climate-induced-displaced-persons-under-european-law/

Conclusions

Amongst the new situations that have emerged in the contemporary international landscape, climate change and its consequences undeniably represent a challenge, especially concerning catastrophic slow-onset environmentally-induced displacements. Human migration has always been a complex social phenomenon because it usually involves more than one causal factor conditioning the movement of people. This is why the climate refugee will almost always face an uphill battle trying to prove climate change as a form of persecution to fit in the conventional definition of a refugee. Regarding the myriad of adverse effects that environmental disasters have on the population, especially those associated with climate change, migratory movements that occur because people are not able to gain a livelihood can gain much more problematic contours in the eyes of international refugee law. To recapitulate, my research question was to determine what can be achieved for environmental refugees based on the current conditions given the lack of international protection, and ultimately can environmental migration be reframed as a human rights issue? With this in mind, I have formulated a series of conclusions with respect to my original hypothesis.

- 1. Indeed, the complexity of situations that climate refugees face has been alarming the international community as well as challenging the ability of states and institutions to address the growing demands arising from environmental degradation. The shortcomings and limitations of international law in the face of these new and unusual challenges require/demand a fundamental reconsideration of the functioning of the international refugee / human rights system as a whole and how we are tackling these dilemmas. Therefore, the way in which the international community rises to protect climate refugees provides a lucid and comprehensible space for change. The issue of international protection for climate refugees is inserted in this context permeated by legal uncertainty in international refugee law, which reinforces the need for an integrated approach that takes into account not only the crisis of environmentally-induced displacement itself but a solution consistent with the multiple nuances of this phenomenon that should also have a basis in international human rights law.
- 2. While it is essential to acknowledge the forcible nature of this type of migration, framing it as part of the refugee system has not proved to be the best solution. Initiatives to amend existing international refugee instruments in order to extend their application to reach new and complex legal situations would confront structural limitations that are intrinsic to the scope of the elaboration of these standards. Simply stated, it would be very difficult to categorize a climate refugee from a SIDS in the Pacific and another from the Horn of Africa in the same type of environmental refugee definition without significant legal challenges. Furthermore, if we set aside the lack of "environmental rationale" as a persecution factor, changing the category of refugee could potentially mean stricter measures for both refugees and environmentally displaced persons. Hence, the suggestion to broaden the refugee definition in the 1951 Convention fails to address the root causes of the issue and consequently neglects central aspects to solve the problem comprehensively.
- 3. One of the main obstacles regarding this matter lies in circumventing the political challenges that are posed as a priority by states in addressing human rights issues. This is evident in the advocated solutions by the European Union, the United Nations, and the Nansen Initiative and its Protection Agenda. Thus, the political will of states (and maintaining state sovereignty) appears to be the leading obstacle used as a vehicle to contain advances regarding environmentally-induced displacement agreements at the international level, which is focused prioritizing the classification of environmental displacement occurrences as a form of humanitarian aid, a temporary situation, or an issue that should be solved regionally (i.e. in the Global South, where most of these movements occur. Most of the instruments related to protection in international refugee law are based on the criteria of state sovereignty and fail to encompass the reality of environmental displacement due to disaster or degradation. As a result, climate refugees are consistently maintained on the fringes of international apparatuses of protection due to a lack of a consistent definition regarding their condition. Also, current refugee normative instruments like the Global Compact on Refugees do not create legal obligations for states nor address environmentally

displaced specific needs. Thus, relying exclusively on existing soft law texts like the Nansen Initiative and its Protection Agenda and the Global Compact on Refugees would not be the most effective method to guarantee protection for climate.

In sum, while international human rights law is not a perfect solution, because it too lacks binding legal tools/instruments for climate change-induced displacement, it could serve as a solid foundation for advancement if we reframe the discourse in that direction. As recently exemplified in the 2020 UN Human Rights Committee ruling in the Teitiota case, the principle of non-refoulement has now added protection for climate refugees. Even as states are increasingly hostile politically towards migrants, the international community still respects the 'right to life' as an inalienable and salient argument. Still, international human rights law is often applied remedially which is why I conclude that it is better reframed as the basis (rather than international refugee law) for a larger legally binding protection framework for climate refugees.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Primary Sources

African Union list of countries which have signed, ratified/acceded to the OAU Convention, available at: http://www.africa-union.org/root/au/documents/treaties/text/refugee%20Problems%20in%20Africa.doc

Article 78 Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union and Case C-31/09 Nawras Bohol v Bevandorlasi es Allampolgarsagi Hivatal [2010].

Asian-African Legal Consultative Organization. 1966. Bangkok Principles on the Status and Treatment of Refugees. Available at https://www.refworld.org/pdfid/3de5f2d52.pdf

Buchanan, K. & Law Library Of Congress, U. S. G. L. R. D. (2015) New Zealand, "climate change refugee" case overview. [Washington, D.C.: The Law Library of Congress, Global Legal Research Center] [Pdf] Retrieved from the Library of Congress, https://www.loc.gov/item/2016295703/.

Cartagena Declaration on Refugees (Nov. 22, 1984) in 'Annual Report of the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights' 1984–85 O.A.S. Doc. OEA/Ser.L/V/II.66/doc.10, rev.1 [hereinafter Cartagena Declaration].

Directive 2011/95/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 December 2011 on standards for the qualification of third-country nationals or stateless persons as beneficiaries of international protection, for a uniform status for refugees or for persons eligible for subsidiary protection, and for the content of the protection granted (recast), 20 December 2011, OJ L 337.

European Migration Network. 'The different national practices concerning granting of non-EU harmonised protection statuses'p. 105, available at: http://emn.intrasoftintl.com/Downloads/prepareShowFiles.do;jsessionid=4D19F304BDB6A81B9C1C8519414938A C?entryTitle=06_The%20 different%20national%20practices%20concerning%20granting%20of%20NONEU%20H ARMONISED%20 PROTECTION%20STATUSES

European Parliament. 2011. "'Climate Refugees', Legal and Policy Responses to Environmentally Induced Migration" Accessed April 2020 at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/etudes/join/2011/462422/IPOL-LIBE_ET(2011)462422_EN.pdf

European Parliament. 2018. "The concept of 'climate refugee' Towards a possible definition" Accessed April 2020 at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2018/621893/EPRS_BRI(2018)621893_EN.pdf

Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Annual Report 1981-82, OEA/Ser.L/V/II.57 doc. 6 rev.1 (1982) Chapter IV, ¶ 11(d).

Interview with Martina Castiglioni of the Migration, Environment, and Climate Change division of the International Organization of Migration. 3 March 2020.

Nansen Initiative, 2015. Agenda for the Protection of Cross-Border Displaced Persons in the Context of Disasters and Climate Change Volume I. The Nansen Initiative.

Nansen Initiative. 2015. Disaster-Induced Cross-Border Displacement. Cross-border displacement.

OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa, 1969, 2018. *International Human Rights Law Documents*, pp. 599-605. DOI 10.1017/9781316677117.071.

UNFCCC-TFD. 2018. Report of the Task Force on Displacement. [Accessed 16 March 2020] at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/2018_TFD_report_17_Sep.pdf

UN Commission on Human Rights, 'Draft Declaration of Principles on Human Rights and the Environment', UN Doc,E/CN.4/Sub.2/1994/9, 6 July 1994. Available at: http://www.unhchr.ch/Huridocda/Huridoca.nsf/0/eeab2b6937bccaa18025675c005779c3?Opendocument

UN General Assembly, *Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment,* 10 December 1984, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1465, p. 85, available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b3a94.html [accessed 19 July 2020].

UN General Assembly, *Prevention and punishment of the crime of genocide*, 9 December 1948, A/RES/260, available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/3b00f0873.html

UN General Assembly, *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities*, 13 December 2006, United Nations, Treaty Series 2515, 3.

UN General Assembly, *Convention on the Rights of the Child*, 20 November 1989, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1577, p. 3, available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b38f0.html [accessed 19 July 2020].

UN General Assembly, *Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees*, 28 July 1951, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 189, p. 137, available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/3be01b964.html [accessed 6 March 2020].

UN Human Rights Committee, 'General Comment No. 6 – The Right to Life', 1982. Available at: http://www.unhchr.ch/tbs/doc.nsf/%28Symbol%29/84ab9690ccd81fc7c12563ed0046fae3?Opendocument

UNHCR, Persons covered by the OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa and by the Cartagena Declaration on Refugees (Submitted by the African Group and the Latin American Group), U.N. Doc. EC/1992/SCP/CRP.6 (Apr. 6. 1992).

United Nations Global Compact on Refugees. 'Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees', 73rd Session Supp No 12, UN doc A/73/12 (Part I & II) (13 September 2018)) https://www.unhcr.org/gcr/GCR_English.pdf for consideration by the UN General Assembly in conjunction with its annual resolution on the UNHCR (UN General Assembly, 73rd Session, Third Committee, Agenda item 65, 'Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, questions relating to refugees, returnees and displaced persons and humanitarian questions' (8 November 2018) http://undocs.org/A/C.3/73/L.59.

Secondary Sources

ALEINIKOFF, T Alexander, 2018, The Unfinished Work of the Global Compact on Refugees. *International Journal of Refugee Law.* 2018. Vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 611–617. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/eey057.

ANYADIKE, Obi, 2019, Drought in Africa leaves 45 million in need across 14 countries. *The New Humanitarian* [online]. 10 June 2019. [Accessed 8 January 2020]. Available from: https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/analysis/2019/06/10/drought-africa-2019-45-million-in-need

BARISIC, Angela and INCI, Dilan, 2013, [online]. 13 May 2013. [Accessed 5 April 2020]. Available from: http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:633332/ATTACHMENT01.pdf

BEELER, Carolyn, 2018, UN compact recognizes climate change as driver of migration for first time. The World from PRX [online]. 11 December 2018. [Accessed 8 May 2020]. Available from: https://www.pri.org/stories/2018-12-11/un-compact-recognizes-climate-change-driver-migration-first-time

BEHRMAN, Simon and KENT, Avidan, 2018, *Climate refugees: beyond the legal impasse?* Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge, an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group.

BETTS, Alexander, 2010, Survival Migration: A New Protection Framework. *Global Governance: A Review of Multilateralism and International Organizations*. 2010. Vol. 16, no. 3p. 361–382. DOI 10.1163/19426720-01603006.

CASTLES, Stephen., 2006. Global perspectives on forced migration. *Asian and Pacific Migration Journal*, 15(1), pp. 7-28.

COOPER, Michael D., 2012, Migration and Disaster-Induced Displacement: European Policy, Practice, and Perspective. SSRN Electronic Journal. 2012. DOI 10.2139/ssrn.2226540.

DELVAL, Eugénie, 2020. From the U.N. Human Rights Committee to European Courts: Which protection for climate-induced displaced persons under European Law? EU Immigration and Asylum Law and Policy. Available at: http://eumigrationlawblog.eu/from-the-u-n-human-rights-committee-to-european-courts-which-protection-for-climat e-induced-displaced-persons-under-european-law/

ELLINGHAM, Vanessa, 2014, Climate refugees, the hot potato of immigration policy: FairPlanet. *Fair Planet* [online]. 10 November 2014. [Accessed 8 January 2020]. Available from: https://www.fairplanet.org/story/why-climate-refugees-are-the-hot-potato-of-immigration-policy/

ESPIELL, Hector Gros, PICADO, Sonia and LANZA, Leo Valladares, 1990, Principles And Criteria For The Protection Of And Assistance To Central American Refugees, Returnees And Displaced Persons In Latin America. *International Journal of Refugee Law.* 1990. Vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 83–117. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/2.1.83.

FARMER, Alice, 2008, Non-Refoulement and jus cogens: Limiting anti-terror measures that threaten refugee protection. *Georgetown Immigration Law Journal* . 2008. Vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 18–19.

FERRIS, Elizabeth, 2017, Governance and climate change-induced mobility. *Climate Change, Migration and Human Rights*. December 2017. pp. 10–27. DOI 10.4324/9781315622217-2.

FLAUTRE, Hélène, LAMBERT, Jean, KELLER, Ska and LOCHBIHLER, Barbara, 2013, *CLIMATE CHANGE, REFUGEES AND MIGRATION* [online]. May 2013. [Accessed 5 January 2020]. Available from: http://rosamartinez.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Greens-EFA-Position-Paper-Climate-Change-Refugees-and-Mi gration.pdf

FORNALÉ, Elisa and DOEBBLER, Curtis F J, 2016, UNHCR and protection and assistance for the victims of climate change. *The Geographical Journal*. September 2016. Vol. 183, no. 4, pp. 329–335. DOI 10.1111/geoj.12193.

GODIN, Mélissa, 2020, Climate Refugees Cannot Be Sent Home, U.N. Rules. *Time* [online]. 20 January 2020. [Accessed 6 June 2020]. Available from: https://time.com/5768347/climate-refugees-un-ioane-teitiota/

HATHAWAY, James C., 1991, The law of refugee status. Markham, Ont.: Lexis Nexis Butterworths, pp.16-21.

Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (HREOC) Australia, 'Background Paper: Human Rights and Climate Change', 2008, 3; see also: Advisory Council of Jurists of the Asia Pacific Forum, 'Observations and Recommendations – Reference on the Right to Environment', 2007. Available at: http://www.asiapacificforum.net/acj/references/righttoenvironment/downloads/environment/observations_recomme ndations.doc

HINNAWI, Essam E., 1985, Environmental refugees. Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme.

KALIN, Walter, 'Conceptualising Climate-Induced Displacement' in JANE MCADAM (ED), CLIMATE CHANGE AND DISPLACEMENT: MULTIDISCIPLINARY PERSPECTIVES 2010. pp. 88-9.

KALIN, Walter, 2019. INTERNATIONAL RESPONSES TO CLIMATE-RELATED MIGRATION. *Journal of International Affairs*, 73(1), 255-260. doi:10.2307/26872797

KOLMANNSKOG, Vikram, 2012, Climate Change, Environmental Displacement And International Law. *Journal of International Development*. 2012. Vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 1071–1081. DOI 10.1002/jid.2888.

KRALER, Albert, 2011, Fixing, Adjusting, Regulating, Protecting Human Rights - The Shifting Uses of Regularisations in the European Union. *European Journal of Migration and Law.* 2011. Vol. 13, no. 3p. 297–316. DOI 10.1163/157181611x587865.

KRALER, Albert, CERNEI, Tatiana, and NOACK, Marion. 2011. Directorate-General for Internal Policies: "Climate refugees", Legal and Policy Responses to Environmentally Induced Migration. European Parliament 1, 54.

MAYER, Benoît, 2014, Climate Migration Governance. *Handbook of Climate Change Adaptation*. 2014. pp. 1–14. DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-40455-9_112-1.

MASTERS, Jeff, 2019, Fifth Straight Year of Central American Drought Helping Drive Migration. *Scientific American Blog Network* [online]. 23 December 2019. [Accessed 1 February 2020]. Available from: https://blogs.scientificamerican.com/eye-of-the-storm/fifth-straight-year-of-central-american-drought-helping-drive-migration/

MCADAM, Jane, 2011, Swimming against the Tide: Why a Climate Change Displacement Treaty is Not the Answer. *International Journal of Refugee Law.* October 2011. Vol. 23, no. 1p. 2–27. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/eeq045.23 IJRL 2, 4

MCADAM, Jane, 2013, *Climate change, forced migration, and international law.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

MCLEMAN, Robert, 2012, Developments in modelling of climate change-related migration. *Climatic Change*. November 2012. Vol. 117, no. 3, pp. 599–611. DOI 10.1007/s10584-012-0578-2.

MYERS, Norman and KENT, Jennifer, 1995, *Environmental exodus: an emergent crisis in the global arena.* Washington, DC : Climate Institute., 18–19.

MYRSTAD, Finn and KOLMANNSKOG, Vikram, 2009, Environmental Displacement in European Asylum Law. *European Journal of Migration and Law.* 2009. Vol. 11, no. 4p. 313–326. DOI 10.1163/157181609789804321.

OKOTH-OBBO George, 2001. Thirty Years on: a Legal Review of the 1969 OAU Refugee Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa, 20 REF. SURVEY QUARTERLY p.112.

OMIDI, Maryam, 2009, Maldives sends climate SOS with undersea cabinet. Reuters [online]. 17 October 2009. [Accessed 8 January 2020]. Available from: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-maldives-environment/maldives-sends-climate-sos-with-undersea-cabinet-idUST RE59G0P120091017

PHILIP, T., 2018. Climate change displacement and migration: An analysis of the current international legal regime's deficiency, proposed solutions and a way forward for Australia. *Melb. J. Int'l L.*, 19, p. 639.

RENAUD, FABRICE et al. 2007. Control, Adapt or Flee. How to Face Environmental Migration? Bonn: UNUEHS, [Accessed 8 January 2020]. Available from: http://www.ehs.unu.edu/file/get/3973

REUBEN, Adam. 2017. "'Climate Refugees' and the EU: A Silent Response of what to Come?". Accessed April 2020 at: https://eulawpol57.wordpress.com/2017/10/10/climate-refugees-and-the-eu-a-silent-respon se-of-what-to-come/

SHARALAYA, Nandan, 2018, Taking India's Climate Migrants Seriously. *The Diplomat* [online]. 10 August 2018. [Accessed 1 February 2020]. Available from: https://thediplomat.com/2018/08/taking-indias-climate-migrants-seriously/

SIMONELLI, Andrea C., 2016, Institutional Expansion. *Governing Climate Induced Migration and Displacement*. 2016. P. 55–72. DOI 10.1057/9781137538666_5.

TÜRK, Volker and GARLICK, Madeline, 2019, Addressing Displacement in the Context of Disasters and the Adverse Effects of Climate Change: Elements and Opportunities in the Global Compact on Refugees. *International Journal of Refugee Law.* 2019. Vol. 31, no. 2-3p. 389–399. DOI 10.1093/ijrl/eez029.

UNFCCC. 2018. "COP24 Addresses Climate Change Migration Ahead Of UN Migration Pact Meeting In Marrakech". [Accessed 16 March 2020] at: https://unfccc.int/news/cop24-addresses-climate-change-migration-ahead-of-un-migrationpact-meeting-in-marrakech

UNHCR, 2009. OAU Convention Remains a Key Plank of Refugee Protection in Africa after 40 years available at: http://www.unhcr.org/4aa7b80c6.html

 $UNHCR.\,2015.\,\text{``Climate Change and Disasters''}.\,[Accessed\,16\,March\,2020]\,at: http://www.unhcr.org/climate-change-and-disasters.html:\,7$

UNHCR. 2016. "Frequently asked questions on climate change and disaster displacement". [Accessed 16 March 2020] at: https://www.unhcr.org/news/latest/2016/11/581f52dc4/frequently-asked-questionsclimate-change-disaster-displacement.html

UNHCR, 2016. "'Refugee' or 'migrant' – Which is right?". [Accessed 2 February 2020]

UNCHR. 2018. "Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2018" p.14 [Accessed 02 April 2020] https://www. unhcr.org/5d08d7ee7.pdf

VAN DUREN, Ce, 2018. The legal obligations for the European Union to protect climate-induced migrants crossing European borders. Tilburg University Law School. Available at: http://arno.uvt.nl/show. cgi?fid=146415

WESTRA, Laura and SATVINDER, Juss, 2017, Towards a refugee oriented right of asylum. Routledge. pp. 51-55

WILLIAMS, Angela, 2008, Turning the Tide: Recognizing Climate Change Refugees in International Law. Law & Policy. 2008. Vol. 30, no. 4p. 502–529. DOI 10.1111/j.1467-9930.2008.00290.x.

WORSTER, William Thomas, 2011, The Evolving Definition of the Refugee in Contemporary International Law. 113, 30. Berkley International Law. 2011. DOI 10.2139/ssrn.1736547.

Números Publicados

Serie Unión Europea y Relaciones Internacionales

Nº 1/2000	"La política monetaria única de la Unión Europea" Rafael Pampillón Olmedo
Nº 2/2000	"Nacionalismo e integración" Leonardo Caruana de las Cagigas y Eduardo González Calleja
Nº 1/2001	"Standard and Harmonize: Tax Arbitrage" Nohemi Boal Velasco y Mariano González Sánchez
Nº 2/2001	"Alemania y la ampliación al este: convergencias y divergencias" José María Beneyto Pérez
Nº 3/2001	"Towards a common European diplomacy? Analysis of the European Parliament resolution on establishing a common diplomacy (A5-0210/2000)" Belén Becerril Atienza y Gerardo Galeote Quecedo
Nº 4/2001	"La Política de Inmigración en la Unión Europea" Patricia Argerey Vilar
Nº 1/2002	"ALCA: Adiós al modelo de integración europea?" Mario Jaramillo Contreras
Nº 2/2002	"La crisis de Oriente Medio: Palestina" Leonardo Caruana de las Cagigas
Nº 3/2002	"El establecimiento de una delimitación más precisa de las competencias entre la Unión Europea y los Estados miembros" José María Beneyto y Claus Giering
Nº 4/2002	"La sociedad anónima europea" Manuel García Riestra
Nº 5/2002	"Jerarquía y tipología normativa, procesos legislativos y separación de poderes en la Unión Europea: hacia un modelo más claro y transparente" Alberto Gil Ibáñez
Nº 6/2002	"Análisis de situación y opciones respecto a la posición de las Regiones en el ámbito de la UE. Especial atención al Comité de las Regiones" Alberto Gil Ibáñez
Nº 7/2002	"Die Festlegung einer genaueren Abgrenzung der Kompetenzen zwischen der Europäischen Union und den Mitgliedstaaten" José María Beneyto y Claus Giering
Nº 1/2003	"Un español en Europa. Una aproximación a Juan Luis Vives" José Peña González
Nº 2/2003	"El mercado del arte y los obstáculos fiscales ¿Una asignatura pendiente en la Unión Europea?" Pablo Siegrist Ridruejo
Nº 1/2004	"Evolución en el ámbito del pensamiento de las relaciones España-Europa" José Peña González
Nº 2/2004	"La sociedad europea: un régimen fragmentario con intención armonizadora" Alfonso Martínez Echevarría y García de Dueñas
Nº 3/2004	"Tres operaciones PESD: Bosnia i Herzegovina, Macedonia y República Democrática de Congo" Berta Carrión Ramírez

Nº 4/2004	"Turquía: El largo camino hacia Europa" Delia Contreras
Nº 5/2004	"En el horizonte de la tutela judicial efectiva, el TJCE supera la interpretación restrictiva de la legitimación activa mediante el uso de la cuestión prejudicial y la excepción de ilegalidad" Alfonso Rincón García Loygorri
Nº 1/2005	"The Biret cases: what effects do WTO dispute settlement rulings have in EU law?" Adrian Emch
Nº 2/2005	"Las ofertas públicas de adquisición de títulos desde la perspectiva comunitaria en el marco de la creación de un espacio financiero integrado" José María Beneyto y José Puente
Nº 3/2005	"Las regiones ultraperiféricas de la UE: evolución de las mismas como consecuencia de las políticas específicas aplicadas. Canarias como ejemplo" Carlota González Láynez
Nº 24/2006	"El Imperio Otomano: ¿por tercera vez a las puertas de Viena?" Alejandra Arana
Nº 25/2006	"Bioterrorismo: la amenaza latente" Ignacio Ibáñez Ferrándiz
Nº 26/2006	"Inmigración y redefinición de la identidad europea" Diego Acosta Arcarazo
Nº 27/2007	"Procesos de integración en Sudamérica. Un proyecto más ambicioso: la comunidad sudamericana de naciones" Raquel Turienzo Carracedo
Nº 28/2007	"El poder del derecho en el orden internacional. Estudio crítico de la aplicación de la norma democrática por el Consejo de Seguridad y la Unión Europea" Gaspar Atienza Becerril
Nº 29/2008	"Iraqi Kurdistan: Past, Present and Future. A look at the history, the contemporary situation and the future for the Kurdish parts of Iraq" Egil Thorsås
Nº 30/2008	"Los desafíos de la creciente presencia de China en el continente africano" Marisa Caroço Amaro
Nº 31/2009	"La cooperación al desarrollo: un traje a medida para cada contexto. Las prioridades para la promoción de la buena gobernanza en terceros paises: la Unión Europea, los Estados Unidos y la Organización de las Naciones Unidas" Anne Van Nistelroo
Nº 32/2009	"Desafios y oportunidades en las relaciones entre la Unión Europea y Turquía" Manuela Gambino
Nº 33/2010	"Las relaciones trasatlánticas tras la crisis financiera internacional: oportunidades para la Presidencia Española" Román Escolano
Nº 34/2010	"Los derechos fundamentales en los tratados europeos. Evolución y situación actual" Silvia Ortiz Herrera
Nº 35/2010	"La Unión Europea ante los retos de la democratización en Cuba" Delia Contreras
Nº 36/2010	"La asociación estratégica UE-Brasil. Retórica y pragmatismo en las relaciones Euro-Brasileñas"(Vol 1 y 2) Ana Isabel Rodríguez Iglesias

Nº 37/2011	"China's foreign policy: A European Perspective" Fernando Delage y Gracia Abad
Nº 38/2011	"China's Priorities and Strategy in China-EU Relations" Chen Zhimin, Dai Bingran, Zhongqi Pan and Ding Chun
Nº 39/2011	"Motor or Brake for European Policies? Germany's new role in the EU after the Lisbon- Judgmentof its Federal Constitutional Court" Ingolf Pernice
Nº 40/2011	"Back to Square One the Past, Present and Future of the Simmenthal Mandate" Siniša Rodin
Nº 41/2011	"Lisbon before the Courts: Comparative Perspectives" Mattias Wendel
Nº 42/2011	"The Spanish Constitutional Court, European Law and the constitutional traditions commonto the Member States (Art. 6.3 TUE). Lisbon and beyond" Antonio López-Pina
Nº 43/2011	"Women in the Islamic Republic of Iran: The Paradox of less Rights and more Opportunities" Désirée Emilie Simonetti
Nº 44/2011	"China and the Global Political Economy" Weiping Huang & Xinning Song
Nº 45/2011	"Multilateralism and Soft Diplomacy" Juliet Lodge and Angela Carpenter
Nº 46/2011	"FDI and Business Networks: The EU-China Foreign Direct Investment Relationship" Jeremy Clegg and HinrichVoss
Nº 47/2011	"China within the emerging Asian multilateralismand regionalism. As perceived through a comparison with the European Neighborhood Policy" Maria-Eugenia Bardaro & Frederik Ponjaert
Nº 48/2011	"Multilateralism and global governance" Mario Telò
Nº 49/2011	"EU-China: Bilateral Trade Relations and Business Cooperation" Enrique Fanjul
Nº 50/2011	"Political Dialogue in EU-China Relations". José María Beneyto, Alicia Sorroza, Inmaculada Hurtado y Justo Corti
Nº 51/2011	"La Política Energética Exterior de la Unión Europea. Entre dependencia, seguridad de abastecimiento, mercado y geopolítica". Marco Villa
Nº 52/2011	"Los Inicios del Servicio Europeo de Acción Exterior" Macarena Esteban Guadalix
Nº 53/2011	"Holding Europe's CFSP/CSDP Executive to Account in the Age of the Lisbon Treaty" Daniel Thym
Nº 54/2011	"El conflicto en el Ártico: ¿hacia un tratado internacional?" Alberto Trillo Barca
Nº 55/2012	"Turkey's Accession to the European Union: Going Nowhere" William Chislett
Nº 56/2012	"Las relaciones entre la Unión Europea y la Federación Rusa en materia de seguridad y defensa Reflexiones al calor del nuevo concepto estratégico de la Alianza Atlántica" Jesús Elguea Palacios

Nº 57/2012	"The Multiannual Financial Framework 2014-2020: A Preliminary analysis of the Spanish position" Mario Kölling y Cristina Serrano Leal
Nº 58/2012	"Preserving Sovereignty, Delaying the Supranational Constitutional Moment? The CJEU as the Anti-Model for regional judiciaries" Allan F. Tatham
Nº 59/2012	"La participación de las Comunidades Autónomas en el diseño y la negociación de la Política de Cohesión para el periodo 2014-2020" Mario Kölling y Cristina Serrano Leal
Nº 60/2012	"El planteamiento de las asociaciones estratégicas: la respuesta europea ante los desafíos que presenta el nuevo orden mundial" Javier García Toni
Nº 61/2012	"La dimensión global del Constitucionalismo Multinivel. Una respuesta legal a los desafíos de la globalización" Ingolf Pernice
Nº 62/2012	"EU External Relations: the Governance Mode of Foreign Policy" Gráinne de Búrca
Nº 63/2012	"La propiedad intelectual en China: cambios y adaptaciones a los cánones internacionales" Paula Tallón Queija
Nº 64/2012	"Contribuciones del presupuesto comunitario a la gobernanza global: claves desde Europa Cristina Serrano Leal
Nº 65/2013	"Las Relaciones Germano-Estadounidenses entre 1933 y 1945" Pablo Guerrero García
Nº 66/2013	"El futuro de la agricultura europea ante los nuevos desafíos mundiales" Marta Llorca Gomis, Raquel Antón Martín, Carmen Durán Vizán, Jaime del Olmo Morillo-Velarde
Nº 67/2013	"¿Cómo será la guerra en el futuro? La perspectiva norteamericana" Salvador Sánchez Tapia
Nº 68/2013	"Políticas y Estrategias de Comunicación de la Comisión Europea" Actores y procesos desde que se aprueban hasta que la información llega a la ciudadanía española Marta Hernández Ruiz
Nº 69/2013	"El reglamento europeo de sucesiones. Tribunales competentes y ley aplicable. Excepciones al principio general de unidad de ley" Silvia Ortiz Herrera
Nº 70/2013	"Private Sector Protagonism in U.S. Humanitarian Aid" Sarah Elizabeth Capers
Nº 71/2014	"Integration of Turkish Minorities in Germany" Iraia Eizmendi Alonso
Nº 72/2014	"La imagen de España en el exterior: La Marca España" Marta Sabater Ramis
Nº 73/2014	"Aportaciones del Mercado Interior y la política de competencia europea: lecciones a considerar por otras áreas de integración regional" Jerónimo Maillo
Nº 74/2015	"Las relaciones de la UE con sus socios meridionales a la luz de la Primavera Árabe" Paloma Luengos Fernández

"De Viena a Sarajevo: un estudio del equilibrio de poder en Europa entre 1815 y 1914" Nº 75/2015 Álvaro Silva Soto "El avance de la ultraderecha en la Unión Europea como consecuencia de la crisis: Una perspectiva del contexto político de Grecia y Francia según la teoría del 'chivo expiatorio'" Nº 76/2015 Eduardo Torrecilla Giménez "La influencia de los factores culturales en la internacionalización de la empresa: El caso de Nº 77/2016 España y Alemania Blanca Sánchez Govenechea "La Cooperación Estructurada Permanente como instrumento para una defensa común" Nº 78/2016 Elena Martínez Padilla "The European refugee crisis and the EU-Turkey deal on migrants and refugees" Nº 79/2017 Guido Savasta "Brexit:How did the UK get here?" Nº 80/2017 Izabela Daleszak "Las ONGD españolas: necesidad de adaptación al nuevo contexto para sobrevivir" Nº 81/2017 Carmen Moreno Ouintero "Los nuevos instrumentos y los objetivos de política económica en la UE: efectos de la crisis Nº 82/2017 sobre las desigualdades" Miguel Moltó "Peace and Reconciliation Processes: The Northern Irish case and its lessons" Nº 83/2017 Carlos Johnston Sánchez "Cuba en el mundo: el papel de Estados Unidos, la Unión Europea y España" Nº 84/2018 Paula Foces Rubio "Environmental Protection Efforts and the Threat of Climate Change in the Arctic: Examined Through International Perspectives Including the European Union and the United States of Nº 85/2018 America" Kristina Morris "La Unión Europea pide la palabra en la (nueva) escena internacional" Nº 86/2018 José Martín y Pérez de Nanclares "El impacto de la integración regional africana dentro del marco de asociación UE-ACP y su Nº 87/2019 implicación en las relaciones post Cotonú 2020" Sandra Moreno Avala "Lucha contra el narcotráfico: un análisis comparativo del PlanColombia y la Iniciativa Nº 88/2019 Mérida" Blanca Paniego Gámez "Desinformación en la UE: ¿amenaza híbrida o fenómenocomunicativo? Evolución de la estrategia de la UE desde 2015" Nº 89/2019 Elena Terán González "La influencia del caso Puigdemont en la cooperación judicial penal europea" Nº 90/2019 Pablo Rivera Rodríguez Nº 91/2020 "Trumping Climate Change: National and International Commitments to Climate Change in the Trump Era" Olivia Scotti Nº 92/2020 "El impacto social de la innovación tecnológica en Europa" Ricardo Palomo-Zurdo, Virginia Rey-Paredes, Milagros Gutiérrez-Fernández, Yakira Fernández-Torres

"El Reglamento sobre la privacidad y las comunicaciones electrónicas, la asignatura Nº 93/2020 pendiente del Mercado Único Digital" Ana Gascón Marcén Nº 94/2020 "Referencias al tratamiento constitucional de la Unión Europea en algunos Estados Miembros" Rafael Ripoll Navarro Nº 95/2020 "La identidad europea, ¿en crisis? Reflexiones entorno a los valores comunes en un entorno de cambio" Irene Correas Sosa Nº 96/2020 "La configuración de un sistema de partidos propiamente europeo" Luis Rodrigo de Castro Nº 97/2020 "El Banco Asiático de Inversión en Infraestructura. La participación de Europa y de España" Amadeo Jensana Tanehashi Nº 98/2020 "Nuevas perspectivas en las relaciones entre la Unión Europea y China" Georgina Higueras Nº 99/2020 "Inversiones Unión Europea-China: ¿hacia una nueva era?" Jerónimo Maillo y Javier Porras Nº 100/2020 "40 años de reforma: el papel de China en la comunidad internacional" Enrique Fanjul Nº 101/2020 "A climate for change in the European Union. The current crisis implications for EU climate and energy policies" Corina Popa Nº 102/2020 "Aciertos y desafíos de la cooperación Sur-Sur. Estudio del caso de Cuba y Haití" María Fernández Sánchez Nº 103/2020 "El Derecho Internacional Humanitario después de la II Guerra Mundial" Gonzalo del Cura Iiménez

Serie Política de la Competencia y Regulación

Nº 1/2001	"El control de concentraciones en España: un nuevo marco legislativo para las empresas" José María Beneyto
Nº 2/2001	"Análisis de los efectos económicos y sobre la competencia de la concentraciónEndesa- Iberdrola" Luis Ationza, Javier de Quinto y Biobard Wett
	Luis Atienza, Javier de Quinto y Richard Watt
Nº 3/2001	"Empresas en Participación concentrativas y artículo 81 del Tratado CE: Dos años de aplicación del artículo 2(4) del Reglamento CE de control de las operaciones de concentración" Jerónimo Maíllo González-Orús
Nº 1/2002	"Cinco años de aplicación de la Comunicación de 1996 relativa a la no imposición de multas o a la reducción de su importe en los asuntos relacionados con los acuerdos entre empresas" Miguel Ángel Peña Castellot
Nº 1/2002	"Leniency: la política de exoneración del pago de multas en derecho de la competencia" Santiago Illundaín Fontoya
Nº 3/2002	"Dominancia vs. disminución sustancial de la competencia ¿cuál es el criterio más apropia- do?: aspectos jurídicos" Mercedes García Pérez
Nº 4/2002	"Test de dominancia vs. test de reducción de la competencia: aspectos económicos" Juan Briones Alonso
Nº 5/2002	"Telecomunicaciones en España: situación actual y perspectivas" Bernardo Pérez de León Ponce
Nº 6/2002	"El nuevo marco regulatorio europeo de las telecomunicaciones" Jerónimo González González y Beatriz Sanz Fernández-Vega
Nº 1/2003	"Some Simple Graphical Interpretations of the Herfindahl-Hirshman Index and their Implications" Richard Watt y Javier De Quinto
Nº 2/2003	"La Acción de Oro o las privatizaciones en un Mercado Único" Pablo Siegrist Ridruejo, Jesús Lavalle Merchán y Emilia Gargallo González
Nº 3/2003	"El control comunitario de concentraciones de empresas y la invocación de intereses nacionales. Crítica del artículo 21.3 del Reglamento 4064/89" Pablo Berenguer O´Shea y Vanessa Pérez Lamas
Nº 1/2004	"Los puntos de conexión en la Ley 1/2002 de 21 de febrero de coordinación de las competencias del Estado y las Comunidades Autónomas en materia de defensa de la competencia" Lucana Estévez Mendoza
Nº 2/2004	"Los impuestos autonómicos sobre los grandes establecimientos comerciales como ayuda de Estado ilícita ex art. 87 TCE" Francisco Marcos
Nº 1/2005	"Servicios de Interés General y Artículo 86 del Tratado CE: Una Visión Evolutiva" Jerónimo Maillo González-Orús

Nº 2/2005 "La evaluación de los registros de morosos por el Tribunal de Defensa de la Competencia" Alfonso Rincón García Loygorri Nº 3/2005 "El código de conducta en materia de fiscalidad de las empresas y su relación con el régimen comunitario de ayudas de Estado" Alfonso Lamadrid de Pablo Nº 18/2006 "Régimen sancionador y clemencia: comentarios al título quinto del anteproyecto de la ley de defensa de la competencia" Miguel Ángel Peña Castellot Nº 19/2006 "Un nuevo marco institucional en la defensa de la competencia en España" Carlos Padrós Reig Nº 20/2006 "Las ayudas públicas y la actividad normativa de los poderes públicos en el anteproyecto de ley de defensa de la competencia de 2006" Juan Arpio Santacruz Nº 21/2006 "La intervención del Gobierno en el control de concentraciones económicas" Albert Sánchez Graells Nº 22/2006 "La descentralización administrativa de la aplicación del Derecho de la competencia en España" José Antonio Rodríguez Miguez Nº 23/2007 "Aplicación por los jueces nacionales de la legislación en materia de competencia en el Provecto de Lev" Juan Manuel Fernández López Nº 24/2007 "El tratamiento de las restricciones públicas a la competencia" Francisco Marcos Fernández Nº 25/2008 "Merger Control in the Pharmaceutical Sector and the Innovation Market Assessment. European Analysis in Practice and differences with the American Approach" Teresa Lorca Morales Nº 26/2008 "Separación de actividades en el sector eléctrico" Joaquín Ma Nebreda Pérez Nº 27/2008 "Arbitraje y defensa de la competencia" Antonio Creus Carreras y Josep Maria Juliá Insenser Nº 28/2008 "El procedimiento de control de concentraciones y la supervición por organismos reguladores de las Ofertas Públicas de Adquisición" Francisco Marcos Fernández Nº 29/2009 "Intervención pública en momentos de crisis: el derecho de ayudas de Estado aplicado a la intervención pública directa en las empresas" Pedro Callol y Jorge Manzarbeitia Nº 30/2010 "Understanding China's Competition Law & Policy: Merger Control as a Case Study" Jeronimo Maillo Nº 31/2012 "Autoridades autonómicas de defensa de la competencia en vías de extinción" Francisco Marcos

Nº 32/2013	"¿Qué es un cártel para la CNC?" Alfonso Rincón García-Loygorri
Nº 33/2013	"Tipología de cárteles duros. Un estudio de los casos resueltos por la CNC" Justo Corti Varela
Nº 34/2013	"Autoridades responsables de la lucha contra los cárteles en España y la Unión Europea" José Antonio Rodríguez Miguez
Nº 35/2013	"Una revisión de la literatura económica sobre el funcionamiento interno de los cárteles y sus efectos económicos" María Jesús Arroyo Fernández y Begoña Blasco Torrejón
Nº 36/2013	"Poderes de Investigación de la Comisión Nacional de la Competencia" Alberto Escudero
Nº 37/2013	"Screening de la autoridad de competencia: Mejores prácticas internacionales" María Jesús Arroyo Fernández y Begoña Blasco Torrejón
Nº 38/2013	"Objetividad, predictibilidad y determinación normativa. Los poderes normativos <i>ad extra</i> de las autoridades de defensa de la competencia en el control de los cárteles" Carlos Padrós Reig
Nº 39/2013	"La revisión jurisdiccional de los expedientes sancionadores de cárteles" Fernando Díez Estella
Nº 40/2013	"Programas de recompensas para luchar contra los cárteles en Europa: una comparativa con terceros países" Jerónimo Maíllo González-Orús
Nº 41/2014	"La Criminalización de los Cárteles en la Unión Europea" Amparo Lozano Maneiro
Nº 42/2014	"Posibilidad de sancionar penalmente los cárteles en España, tanto en el presente como en el futuro" Álvaro Mendo Estrella
Nº 43/2014	"La criminalización de los hardcore cartels: reflexiones a partir de la experiencia de EE. UU. y Reino Unido" María Gutiérrez Rodríguez
Nº 44/2014	"La escasez de acciones de daños y perjuicios derivadas de ilícitos antitrust en España, ¿Por qué?" Fernando Díez Estella
Nº 45/2014	"Cuantificación de daños de los cárteles duros. Una visión económica" Rodolfo Ramos Melero
Nº 46/2014	"El procedimiento sancionador en materia de cárteles" Alfonso Lamadrid de Pablo y José Luis Buendía Sierra
Nº 47/2014	"Japanese Cartel Control in Transition" Mel Marquis and Tadashi Shiraishi
Nº 48/2015	"Una evaluación económica de la revisión judicial de las sanciones impuestas por la CNMC por infracciones anticompetitivas" Javier García-Verdugo

Nº 49/2015	"The role of tax incentives on the energy sector under the Climate Change's challenges Pasquale Pistone" Iñaki Bilbao
Nº 50/2015	"Energy taxation and key legal concepts in the EU State aid context: looking for a common understanding" Marta Villar Ezcurra and Pernille Wegener Jessen
Nº 51/2015	"Energy taxation and key legal concepts in the EU State aid context: looking for a common understanding Energy Tax Incentives and the GBER regime" Joachim English
Nº 52/2016	"The Role of the Polluter Pays Principle and others Key Legal Principles in Energy Taxes, on an State aid Context" José A. Rozas
Nº 53/2016	"EU Energy Taxation System & State Aid Control Critical Analysis from Competitiveness and Environmental Protection Objectives" Jerónimo Maillo, Edoardo Traversa, Justo Corti and Alice Pirlot
Nº 54/2016	"Energy Taxation and State Aids: Analysis of Comparative Law" Marta Villar Ezcurra and Janet Milne
Nº 55/2016	"Case-Law on the Control of Energy Taxes and Tax Reliefs under European Union Law" Álvaro del Blanco, Lorenzo del Federico, Cristina García Herrera, Concetta Ricci, Caterina Verrigni and Silvia Giorgi
Nº 56/2017	"El modelo de negocio de Uber y el sector del transporte urbano de viajeros: implicaciones en materia de competencia" Ana Goizueta Zubimendi
Nº 57/2017	"EU Cartel Settlement procedure: an assessment of its results 10 years later" Jerónimo Maillo
Nº 58/2019	"Quo Vadis Global Governance? Assessing China and EU Relations in the New Global Economic Order" Julia Kreienkamp and Dr Tom Pegram
Nº 59/2019	"From Source-oriented to Residence-oriented: China's International Tax Law Reshaped by BRI?" Jie Wang
Nº 60/2020	"The EU-China trade partnership from a European tax perspective" Elena Masseglia Miszczyszyn, Marie Lamensch, Edoardo Traversa y Marta Villar Ezcurra
Nº 61/2020	"A Study on China's Measures for the Decoupling of the Economic Growth and the Carbon Emission" Rao Lei, Gao Min
Nº 62/2020	"The global climate governance: a comparative study between the EU and China" Cao Hui
Nº 63/2020	"The evolvement of China-EU cooperation on climate change and its new opportunities under the European Green Deal" Zhang Min and Gong Jialuo

Resumen: El vínculo entre el clima y la migración solo ha hecho metástasis en su complejidad y peligro a medida que avanza el cambio climático. Por lo tanto, existe una necesidad imperiosa de encontrar un recurso legal apropiado para los pueblos desplazados debido a crisis climáticas lentas o repentinas. Si bien en el léxico común se hace referencia a estas personas como «refugiados climáticos» o «refugiados ambientales», no están cubiertas por el marco legal internacional de refugiados. Esta investigación busca analizar lo que se puede lograr actualmente a pesar de la brecha global de protecciones legales y posibles ganancias y retrocesos si encuadramos la lente legal en un marco de derechos humanos.

Abstract: The climate-migration nexus has only metastasized in complexity and danger as climate change progresses. Hence, there is a dire need to find an appropriate legal recourse for displaced peoples due to slow or sudden-onset climate crises. While these people are referred to in the common lexicon as «climate refugees» or «environmental refugees», they are not covered by the international refugee legal framework. This investigation endeavors to analyze what can be achieved currently in spite of the global gap of legal protections and potential gains and/or setbacks if we reframe the legal lens to a human rights framework.

Palabras clave: Cambio Climático, Migración, Desplazamiento, Refugiado, Naciones Unidas, Unión Europea, Derecho Internacional sobre Refugiados, Pacto Mundial sobre Refugiados, Derechos Humanos, Refugiado Climático

Keywords: Climate Change, Migration, Displacement, Refugee, United Nations, European Union, International Refugee Law, Global Compact on Refugees, Human Rights, Climate Refugee

Real Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos Universidad CEU San Pablo Avda. del Valle 21, 28003 Madrid Teléfono: 91 514 04 22 | Fax: 91 514 04 28 idee@ceu.es, www.idee.ceu.es

